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01 FOREWORD BY THE MEC FOR EDUCATION IN GAUTENG

Sci-Bono is a world-class science centre that provides learning experiences in maths, science and technology education. It is 
the organisation’s core focus to build a competent South Africa that excels in the global world of science and technology.

Allow me to thank both the Board and staff of Sci-Bono 
for the sterling work that they continue to do for the GDE. 
Without this contribution in the provincial education 
sector, the GDE will not be able to achieve the type of 
milestones we continue to see. Indeed, this partnership 
bears the type of fruit which can only be enjoyed when 
the children of Gauteng prosper in the tertiary space – 
and the world in general. 

The sixth administration, much like the ones before, 
continues to invest in the education of Gauteng’s youth to 
the extent that they can become meaningful contributors 
in the skills revolution. The advent of the 4IR has made 
the need to seriously look into our investment that more 
urgent.

Without institutions like Sci-Bono, our work in the fields 
of Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 
would not be as easy and impactful.

The collaboration on our flagship project, the SSIP, 
continues to yield impressive results year-on-year. The 
support to the more than 68,000 matriculants remains 
invaluable and a key cornerstone in the attainment of 
improved learner outcomes. In this regard, I cannot 
thank enough, the thousands of SSIP Trainers on whose 
shoulders the success of this programme rests. Without 

their commitment to our learners, and their technical 
prowess, GDE would not perform at such inspiring 
levels of efficiency. Le ka moso bagaetsho! 

I am especially appreciative of the involvement of the 
private sector in closing the technological divide in 
our schools. Gone are the days when a black child had 
to be enrolled in an affluent school in order to access 
technology or a better education. I am committed to 
this course and am grateful for the partners that have 
come forward and shared in my vision. Senior-phase 
programmes such as the Saturday School IT, our solar-
learning labs as well as the digital literacy programme 
stand in good stead as breeding ground for future 
technologists. 

I am equally thrilled that Sci-Bono has embraced my 
vision to produce a multi-certificated learner through 
its introduction of drone technology in schools. This is 
one project I am deeply passionate about; specifically 
because of the immense opportunities it presents for 
change and growing our ecosystem as well. 

The opportunities that are further presented to the  
youth of Gauteng in terms of 3D design and printing will 
help pave the way for successful participation in the 4IR 
as bona fide participants, and not just consumers. 

MR ANDREK PANYAZA LESUFI (MPL)
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FOREWORD BY THE MEC FOR EDUCATION IN GAUTENG

I look forward to unlocking even more opportunities 
as we build on the successes that we have achieved 
through this collaboration. Our resolve as a department 
to establish ourselves as the number one province, not 
only in terms of education outcomes but also as a leader 
in innovation, is boosted by institutions such as Sci-Bono; 
for this, we remain grateful. 

Thank you 

ANDREK PANYAZA LESUFI (MPL)
MEC FOR EDUCATION
GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.
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As a non-profit company in terms of the Companies  
Act and a Public Benefit Organisation for purposes of the 
Income Tax Act, we delivered constant revenue growth 
and significantly improved our cash flow performance. 

The work of the Board of Directors remained intense 
as ever, given the environment in which we operate, 
which is characterised by great uncertainty in respect of 
national and global economic growth prospects. These 
exceptionally turbulent and unprecedented times were 
further compounded by far reaching and untenable 
consequences of the Covid-19 outbreak towards the 
latter part of the financial year, adversely impacting the 
livelihood of society and the business enterprises alike.

Notwithstanding all of the above, it is my privilege to 
present the 2019/2020 Chairperson’s Report. This report 
is tabled against the background that contemporary 
South Africa is still facing very specific historical and 
contextual peculiarities. The current economic order is 
still characterised and distorted by unsustainable social 
inequalities expressed across class, ethnicity, gender 
and spatial strata of the society including a structurally 
narrow economic growth model.

For economic and social democracy to emerge 
successful in our country, it remains imperative to 
gear up, reposition and direct Sci-Bono to be a catalyst 

for change and enable far-reaching transformation 
of the socio-economic landscape through its science, 
innovation and technology enhanced training and 
capacity building programmes and service offerings. 

Key to this is the task of building public trust and  
instilling ownership of Africa’s largest science, 
technology and innovation centre as an enabler of 
equitable human development. It is for this reason that 
the Board of Directors remains fully persuaded that 
Sci-Bono must at its core, be grounded in “public good 
purposes”.

The public good and benefit implies strengthening 
the capacity and operative capability of educators in 
public schools, rebuilding communities and restoring 
the social agency of individual learners especially the 
marginalised foundational learners, youth, women to 
build prosperous futures . Such imperatives we believe, 
require greater levels of participation not only from the 
state and private sector actors but also civil society and 
poignantly the greater civil society and stakeholders in 
the emerging STI System.

At a Board level and across the organisation, Sci-
Bono continues to demonstrate financial resilience 
and flexibility. We continue to fulfil by far, all statutory 
and regulatory requirements. The year under review 

I am particularly pleased to be able to report that the 2019/2020 was another successful year for Sci-Bono, during which we 
delivered quality assured and impactful programmes and services. 

02 CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

MR ABBEY WITBOOI
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CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT

been quite interesting in that the Sci-Bono has sustained 
its growth and financial viability in spite of the volatile 
investment and economic uncertainty. 

The Company would not be in the strong position it is 
today, were it not for the continued support of the GDE 
through its annual grant transfers and partnership 
framework. In this regard we commend and extend our 
sincere appreciation, to the visionary, prolific leader of 
our times, the honourable MEC Panyaza Lesufi.

For the full year, Sci-Bono reported aggregated annual 
revenue value of R 403,219 000.00 and a net return on 
our investment growth portfolio is about 6,7 % for the 
financial under review.

I am greatly pleased also, to report that according to the 
RAin Charted Accountants Inc., external auditors, we 
received a clean/unqualified audit, as reflected in our 
2019/2020 Annual Financial Statement report. 

Transformation within the institution is happening 
rapidly as the business logic is now changing in the 
education sector and industry after industry. This is also 
true for the financial industry too, where these changes 
combined with new customer behaviour has a major 
impact on the competitive landscape, the cost levels as 
well as the required competencies. 

During the past year, this work intensified, together 
with management, the Board conducted a review of a 
long -term vision for Sci-Bono as well as the Business 
Plan for the next few years, to reposition and enhance 
our competitive edge. Based on these issues, we have 
discussed the implications for the Company’s digital 
developments in the education sector as well as 
requisite skills for the rapid evolving Innovation and 
Technology imperatives. 

Consequently, the 2020-2024 Strategic Road Map, was 
approved by the Board, thus setting the institution 
on a growth trajectory to ensure business continuity, 
agility and sustainability. Currently, the Board is also 
reviewing the organisational structure in order to 
meet the increasing service demands, achieve better 
efficiencies and accountability. I am glad to report that 
the new model is being well received by our customers, 
critical stakeholders and the public at large.

Through the Executive Management, the Board has 
undertaken a series of initiatives to address both 
the opportunities and challenges brought forth by 
digitization. Today we are in the midst of digitization 
which alters production, distribution and consumption 
of goods and services. Equally, we are challenged to rise 
to the pinnacle of innovation and technology enhanced 
education in line with evolving needs of both learners 

and educators. 

I would also like to, on behalf of the Board, extend our 
warm thanks to the Management and all the employees 
for all of these great achievements.

Regarding the issues of the mandate, the Board 
of Directors are guided by the Memorandum of 
Incorporation, which was amended during the year 
under review in order to strengthen the governance 
framework as well as the functioning of its respective 
Board Committees, mainly:

• Risk and Audit Committee
• Finance Committee
• Science, Technology, Innovation and Research 

Committee 
• Social Ethics Committee role through its 

respective Board Committees.

I wish to address the issues of the mandate of the Board 
as it tasked to provide the strategic direction of the 
organisation.

The task of serving as a Non-Executive Director has 
become more onerous in view of the legislation, the 
complexity, fiduciary duties, responsibilities and overall 
good governance. We have had 10 Non-Executive 
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Directors, Board and Committee meetings which 
were held effectively as per official schedules and in 
adherence to the guidelines and the provisions of the 
MOI.

From the Board’s perspective, we emphasise a long 
-term approach to business planning, performance and 
measurable performance and outcomes. We consider 
it desirable to promote a culture that encourages 
behaviours of employees that in the long-term is for the 
benefit of customers ’learners and educators’ and the 
public at large and thereby the company’s long-term 
success and sustainability.

Even this year, the Board has held intensive work and 
pronounced on many issues that are of great importance 
for the company’s future. As the Chairperson, I can 
proudly state that the Board has worked well. I would 
therefore like to conclude by thanking all my colleagues 
on the Board for their commendable effort and 
dedication.

Thank you to the unconquerable team of 2019/20 for  
your solid performance, despite the immense difficulties 
we faced, it has not been an easy year at all and I want to 
say to the team, well done to you all!

Finally, to the Board, thank you for the honour and the 
opportunity to serve as your Chairperson. We united in 
striving to give our best service to build this institution 
for future generations and that is an honourable thing. 

I salute our stakeholders, partners, clients, service 
providers, Board members, Executives, Management, 
and all staff members for your co-operation and  
support. 

Thank You All! 

Chairperson 

MR ABBEY WITBOOI
BOARD CHAIRPERSON

Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.
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03 CEO EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The past year has proved to be a challenging yet exciting period for the organisation as we continue to strive to remain true to 
Sci-Bono’s vision of improving the quality of life of South Africans through science knowledge, acquisition skills and attitudes 
for innovation. 

DR MORE CHAKANE

The milestones achieved in this report are a reflection of 
diligent collaboration across departments all working 
together towards a common goal.

These various core business departments of Sci-Bono 
form the backbone of the value it delivers to communities 
and its youth:

• Science Education Centre 
• Exhibitry
• Science Career Centre 
• School Support Unit 
• Teacher Training and Development 
• ICT Academy

I am proud to report on a successful 2019/2020 
where science centre operations have continued to 
grow in coordinating successful science awareness 
programmes, science education programmes, science 
communication programmes as well as the special 
programmes. The success of Sci-Bono would not be 
considered meaningful unless it achieved the targets 
determined by its core mandate.

In supporting these programmes, our Exhibitry 
Department installed new exhibits as well as 
commissioned, through the Smithsonian, Ticket to the 
Moon as well as Andrew Pratley of Pratley South Africa, 
various international travelling exhibitions. Working 

with SITES the Exhibitry Department also facilitated 
the installation of the H2O exhibition to Sci-Bono which 
has become very popular with learners and the public. 
In addition to Sci-Bono’s collection of ±300 science 
and technology exhibits and exhibitions, the Exhibitry 
Department collaborated with National Geographic to 
bring the “Weird but True” exhibition. 

Sci-Bono has a mandate to support the delivery  of 
effective Mathematics, Science and Technology 
in Gauteng schools. The Science Career Centre 
complements the mandate by offering programmes 
to create career awareness STEM. The centre runs 
an annual calendar of programmes, activities and 
special events which aim to improve the uptake of 
STEM careers in schools. The Science Career Centre  
supported a total of 4,023 learners in career information 
and advisory services; 34,614 learners in career 
workshops education, guidance and counselling 
services; 7,124 in the work readiness programme  
for unemployed youth, and the career development 
support and counselling programme serviced 4,472 
clients in our community engagement programme in the 
current financial year. 

There are other noteworthy programmes that we 
manage in collaboration with GDE. Through the strong 
partnership with GDE, Sci-Bono continues to coordinate 
and manage its flagship project, SSIP, with great  

CEO EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 9



success. SSIP is a GDE supplementary tuition 
programme that supported 68,001 Grade 12 learners in 
441 schools. The programme ran at 188 sites through-
out the province. Tuition took place on Saturdays and 
during school holidays and offered support in 12 gateway 
subjects. This programme produces exceptional results 
every year, but the matric pass rate dropped by 0.7% 
due to some contextual challenges.

Our partnership with GDE extends beyond SSIP.  
Sci-Bono has once again provided teacher training in 
MST and other FET technical subjects on behalf of the 
GDE’s Teacher Development Directorate. For the current  
period, Sci-Bono successfully offered the SACE-
endorsed training to 15,717 teachers in the foundation: 
Immediate, Senior Phase, FET, and FET Technology 
Phases.

Sci-Bono also prides itself on its flagship ICT Academy 
which has exceeded expectations and directly impacted 
the lives of over 10,163 beneficiaries, including 
unemployed youth, learners, teachers, Sci-Bono 
staff and members of the public through a range of 
ICT training programmes, learning opportunities, 
engagements and SACE-endorsed programmes for 
teachers. We are proud to acknowledge and showcase 
one of the many outstanding success stories from the 
ICT Academy; the story of Isabel Bocolo who enrolled for 

the YDP and successfully developed a fully-functioning 
website for a client before she even completed the 
course she registered for. Her work can be viewed on 
www.mikeshamba.com

All our programmes and activities articulated in this 
report are supported by our internal marketing. Over 
the past year, Sci-Bono has increased its marketing 
efforts and established itself as one of the preferred 
edutainment and leisure destinations in Gauteng. In the 
process, we have enjoyed considerable media coverage. 
We have also seen a substantial increase in the use 
of our conference and events facilities. The demand 
for venues has exceeded the number of available 
spaces available as we strive to find a balance between 
commercial interests for venue rental income versus 
accommodating in-house educational activities which 
have increased significantly over time.

These activities would have not been possible without 
our facilities management team, who are responsible 
for the proper maintenance of the building as well 
as providing oversight over organisational internal 
infrastructure such as IT, Cleaning and Security 
Services.

As we celebrate all the achievements, the organisation 
is still gripped by the loss of our colleague, Ms Tebogo 

Gule who was the Chief Operating Officer at the time of 
her passing. Ms Gule was a dedicated member of the 
Executive Committee team; she left a huge gap in the 
organisation because of her immense contribution to 
Sci-Bono’s overall operations as well as her advocacy 
and awareness drive towards the advancement of 
science in and outside the organisation .

Sci-Bono has seen the size of the organisation’s staff 
compliment decreased due to high turnover. The 
current staff compliment is 271 at the date of this report 
which is 29 February 2020. About 27 terminations were 
reported in the current financial year-end.

Going forward into the next financial year, Sci-Bono will 
be implementing the new organisational strategy with 
well-articulated strategic goals and objectives which 
will inform, drive and re-position the organisation ’s 
work and outputs. This will require some degree of 
organisational re-structuring and re-engineering of 
departments and functions which will enable Sci-Bono 
to achieve its strategic goals and objectives successfully. 

My heartfelt appreciation goes out to the MEC for 
Education in Gauteng, Mr Panyaza Lesufi, HOD and the 
staff at GDE to whom we owe a large debt of gratitude. 
Sci-Bono would not have succeeded in meeting its 
mandate without their support and encouragement.  

SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2010
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CEO EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

DR MORE CHAKANE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Our close connection with GDE and the energetic 
involvement of the MEC has increased Sci-Bono’s 
visibility and agility to deliver in all projects and 
programmes successfully. Our programmes add value 
to the schooling community and continue to grow from 
strength to strength. 

My deepest gratitude goes to the Board Chairperson, 
Mr Abbey Witbooi and the Board Members for their  
continued support. The Board remains committed 
to providing oversight and guidance to Sci-Bono 
management in delivering on the organisational 
mandate. 

Sci-Bono’s management team and staff remain the most 
integral part of the organisation and a very important 
asset in achieving the organisational goals and objectives. 
Therefore, I also want to thank them for their dedication 
and enthusiasm throughout this period; they were 
instrumental in us reaching all the milestones we set for  
Sci-Bono in the current financial year.

I want to acknowledge and thank professional bodies, 
science fraternities, funders, donors, public and private 
partners for their collaboration, scientific oversight, 
expert inputs and funding to Sci-Bono. They have 
altogether contributed significantly to maintaining  
Sci-Bono’s relevance in the network of science centres, 

while funding from donors has enabled us to continue 
providing reputable science awareness and education 
programmes to many learners in Gauteng. 

Sci-Bono will remain an organisation that strives for 
excellence. 

Thank you!
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In the following, Sci-Bono defines the organisation’s business, its objectives and approach to reach those 
objectives. It includes the desired future positioning of the organisation, combined with its principle 
system which serves to uphold its corporate values.

VISION STATEMENT
To be a world-class science centre capacitated to assist 
in instilling a culture of science and technology, acquiring 
science knowledge, skills and attitudes; applying this 
acquired science knowledge, skills and attitudes to 
develop and innovate new products and services that 
uplift the quality of life for all South Africans, and using 
the innovated products and services to compete in the 
global world of science.

MISSION STATEMENT
To assist people in South Africa with instilling a culture 
of science and technology by providing a unique platform 
to explore and better understand the world of science. In 
particular, Sci-Bono’s mission extends into the following 
areas: (1) acquisition of science knowledge, skills and 
attitudes; (2) application of science knowledge, skills 
and attitudes; (2) developing new products and services 
that improve the quality of life for all South Africans; (4) 
innovating and competing in the global world of science.

04 SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE OVERVIEW

CORE VALUES (ACETIII)
1. Accountability – Sci-Bono is an organisation that is 

willing to take responsibility for its action.
2. Customer Centric - Sci-Bono places a special focus 

on creating a positive experience for its customers 
to ensure customer loyalty and value for money.

3. Ethical – We promote the application of moral 
standards in the course of official work.

4. Transparency – We are committed to openness, 
accountability and honesty to build efficiency and 
gain stakeholder trust.

5. Integrity – We are committed to following our moral 
or ethical convictions and doing the right thing in all 
circumstances.

6. Innovation – Sci-Bono values the introduction of 
new technologies that are designed to improve the 
livelihoods of all South Africans.

7. Intellectual Diversity – Our organisation is built on 
a foundation of learning; one that embraces diverse 
intellectual thinking and introduces learners to 
multiple perspectives. 

STRATEGIC GOALS
Sci-Bono works towards achieving its vision and 
mission through the following goals:

• Build a competent society in the world of science.
• Develop and strengthen strong internal systems 

and controls.
• Improve and strengthen financial viability and 

sustainability.
• Build strong research and development (R&D) 

capacity.
• Improve organisational sustainability.

Sci-Bono initiates, develops, implements and evaluates 
a wide range of programmes to achieve its goals. All 
programmes have strategic objectives linked to the 
goals, core activities and intended results with targets, 
including indicators for core and non-ore functions of 
the organisation. 

SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2012
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CORE COMPETANCIES
The following touchpoints serve to outline the various 
core and non-core departments within the Sci-Bono 
Science Centre as well as the corporate services  
on offer.

CORE FUNCTIONS:
• Science Education Service
• Exhibitry
• The Science Career Centre
• School Support Unit
• Teacher Training and Development
• The ICT Academy

SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE OVERVIEW

NON-CORE FUNCTIONS:
• Financial Management
• Risk Management
• Payroll
• Procurement

CORPORATE SERVICES:
• Human Resource Management
• Facilities Management
• Marketing and Communications
• Events Management

13



05

Sci-Bono, South Africa’s largest science centre, brings to life and displays the natural world of science 
through its various core business functions and innovative initiatives.

CORE BUSINESS: OPERATIONS EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
The 2019/2020 financial year was very successful; full 
of positive outcomes for Sci-Bono. The centre was 
successful at communicating its programmes to a 
large audience by using various forms of media, which 
include newsletters, radio and television (community 
and national), and social media campaigns. One of 
Sci-Bono’s key achievements for the year was the 
acquisition and launch of its mobile laboratory. This was 
made possible through the partnership and support of 
the Sasol Foundation.

The success of Sci-Bono would not be considered 
meaningful unless it achieved the targets determined 
by its core mandate, which includes running all 
programmes as per the commissioned annual plan. 
The exhibitry department excelled in installing and 
commissioning the internationally-renowned travelling 
exhibitions known as SITES H2O Today. Ticket to the 
Moon and National Geographic’s ‘Weird But True!’. 
These extraordinary showcases helped the centre to 
secure more visitors, while increasing gate earnings 
as well. Similar patterns are evident in all the centre’s 
major sub-programmes where targets have been met.
One highlight to note, in addition to the SSIP programme FIGURE 1: A chart displaying 2019/20 Science Centre visits
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offered by the Learner Support Programme, is the 
extension of education assistance to some foundation 
schools. These schools act as ‘feeder’ schools to the 
secondary schools which are supported by Sci-Bono.

Other programmes, such as the Teacher Development 
programme, the Unemployment Youth Development 
programme and ICT, performed very well. It cannot go 
without mention that one of the trained youths developed 
a complete website for a client – even before completing 
training for the programme. This is a remarkable feat 
for a young person; a prime example of the unemployed 
youth rising to create jobs for themselves, while 
acquiring and building on the necessary skills to excel 
in the current economy. 

The various business departments of Sci-Bono form the 
backbone of the value it delivers to communities and its 
youth.

Sci-Bono ’s core business departments are:

• Science Education Centre
• Exhibitry
• Science Career Centre
• School Support Unit
• Teacher Training and Development   
• ICT Academy  

Sci-Bono continues to lead in playing its role as a 
destination for interactive science education and a 
much-loved school excursion. It is strategically located 
in Newtown, Johannesburg, close to several well-
known tourist attractions such as Mary Fitzgerald 
Square, Market Theatre, Afronova Art Gallery and the 
Workers’ Museum. The science centre continues to 
show good overall performance against annual targets. 
In total, the centre exceeded its yearly target by 41.9%. 
The centre showcases and brings to life the natural 
world of science through four broad programmes in:

• Science awareness 
• Science education 
• Science competitions 
• Science communication 

SCIENCE AWARENESS 
PROGRAMMES

Science awareness programmes are mass public and 
school engagement activities, which aim to create 
general awareness about broad scientific areas. The 
focus is on essential knowledge transfer to audiences 
who may have never been exposed to science before, 
and therefore, learning through interactivity and 
entertainment is key.

CENTRE VISITS

Sci-Bono boasts a collection of over 350 interactive 
exhibitions that interpret complex science to visitors 
in a very accessible and simplified, fun and exciting 
manner. In 2019/2020, a total of 115,617 participants 
visited the science centre (See Figure 1). This number 
has surpassed the figures from 2018/2019 (80,081) by  
35,536 participants.

SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY, 
ENGINEERING AND MATHEMATICS 
SHOWS 

STEM Shows are a collection of riveting interactive 
demonstrations aimed at engaging learners from 
Grades 0 – 12 and public visitors in topics of science, 
technology, engineering and mathematics. Our STEM 
Shows are uniquely designed to enhance participants’ 
understanding of STEM concepts through theatrical 
entertainment and informative performances.  These 
shows are a standard offering to all visiting schools.

In 2019/2020, the science centre conducted science 
shows with 89,340 participants in comparison to 39,470 
in 2018/2019.

CORE BUSINESS 15



HOLIDAY PROGRAMMES

Sci-Bono implemented a host of exciting activities during 
each of the school holidays in 2019/2020. The following 
holiday programmes were presented to children, youth, 
parents, pensioners and tourists:
 
SPECTACULAR SPECTRUM 

This programme promoted the understanding of the 
relationship between caves, art and science. It covered, 
amongst others, activities such as Wonders of Light, 
Light Quiz, Laser Show Spirograph, Liquid Light, Pinhole 
Camera, Bending Light, Telescope, Spinning Your Colours, 
and Glow In A Bottle. The programme was rated most 
informative in class and was widely attended by members 
of the public. It reached a total of 2,008 participants. 

THE SPACE INVADERS HOLIDAY PROGRAMME 

This event featured hands-on activities, a treasure hunt, 
and science shows. A total of 967 people took part in the 
programme. Participants included children, adults and 
pensioners.

ELEMENTS OF WONDER 

The programme presented 15 hands-on science 
workshops, a daily science show, an ice-cream show, 
and two floor activities, daily. The programme reached 
4,700 visitors, exceeding the set target of 3,000 for the 
quarter.

FOCUS WEEKS

Annual focus weeks have become Sci-Bono’s premier 
programmes to inspire and educate teachers and 
learners about the critical role that STEM plays in our 
daily lives. These focus weeks include a combination 
of innovative exhibitions, presentations as well as 
interactive workshops. During 2019/2020, Sci-Bono 
hosted a massive 24,257 (as compared to the 7,271 in 
2018/2019) learners and educators for the following 
focus weeks:

• National Science Week
• Engineering Week
• Industry Focus Weeks: Transport Week
• Taung Space Week
• Transport Week

UNITED NATIONS INTERNATIONAL 
DAYS

Sci-Bono managed to reach out to 2,091 participants 
through the activities that we arranged in celebration of 
the United Nations’ international days. These included 
International Day of Women and Girls, World Food Day, 
World Science Day, and World Disability Day as well as 
the indigenous language days which covered indigenous 
language activities and indigenous knowledge pro-
grammes in celebration of our heritage. Examples 
include workshops, exhibitions and science shows.

BIRTHDAY PARTIES

Sci-Bono’s birthday party facility continues to be one of 
Gauteng’s most popular science-themed birthday party 
venues. The programme is fully booked for months in 
advance. Sci-Bono hosted 156 birthday parties from 
March 2019 to February 2020, exceeding the target of 
144 by an extra 12 parties. This figure remained fairly 
consistent in comparison to the 157 birthday parties in 
2018/2019. 
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SCIENCE EDUCATION 
PROGRAMMES

The Sci-Bono science education programmes assist in 
enhancing the quality of teaching and learning of MST 
through applications and activities that support proper 
content delivery.

LABORATORIES

Sci-Bono’s three laboratories continue to play a 
critical role in helping school learners especially from 
previously disadvantaged backgrounds to conduct 
their experiments for school-based assessments. 
The physics, chemistry, and life sciences laboratories 
also assist teachers to pilot-test trials and engage 
members of the public who want to understand science 
better. In 2019/2020, a total of 14,995 learners used the 
laboratories.

ELECTRONICS CLUB

During the 2019/2020 financial year, 14 learners were 
engaged in a series of enjoyable, interactive and 
informal club sessions, which aim to improve Grade 10 
and Grade 11 learners’ technical electronics skills. The 
meetings took place on Thursday afternoons at 14:30  
at Sci-Bono and involved learners assembling and 
testing various electronic circuits. 

ROCKETRY COURSE

Sci-Bono hosted the rocketry courses during the school 
holiday periods of 2019 with funding support from 
Denel Dynamics. The sessions involved teaching the 
fundamentals of rocketry and applied MST to Grade 11 
students while designing, constructing and launching 
a rocket within their respective teams. A total of 30 
learners participated in the courses. Learners were 

selected from various schools in Gauteng and mentored 
by trainers from AeroSpace Research, who facilitated 
the sessions.

SCIENCE COMPETITIONS

Sci-Bono organises competitions and quizzes which 
make these competitions fun and stimulating in MST 
fields. During 2019/2020, Sci-Bono coordinated the 
following competitions and quizzes:

MENTAL MATHS

The Mental Maths Challenge is an exciting competition 
for Grade 3 learners. All schools in the 15 Gauteng 
districts participate in the challenge. The challenge has 
four levels School, Cluster, District, and Provincial. The 
provincial challenge took place on 16 October with 119 
learners participating. The awards ceremony took place 
on Saturday, 2 November 2019 with over 350 people 
attending. All learners received certificates, school 
bags sponsored by GDE, and stationery sponsored by 
McMillan and Oxford. The top three learners in each 
category received trophies, tablets (2nd and 3rd positions) 
and laptops (1st position). 

CITY OF JOHANNESBURG SCIENCE-SCUFFLE 
LITERACY COMPETITION 

The competition is an inter-school knock-out quiz for 
learners in Grades 6 and 7. Questions for the quiz are 
taken from the books in the special science collections. 
Science collections are made up of books relating to 
STEM. Books are carefully selected by librarians to 
ensure that special science collections remain relevant 
and updated. Science collections are housed in selected 
libraries. These libraries always participate in the 
Science Scuffle competition, although the competition 
is not exclusive to these libraries. 

In Johannesburg, 266 schools participated in the 2019 
programme with 1,596 learners who benefited in total.

FIRST LEGO LEAGUE ROBOTICS

The FLL national competition finals were hosted by 
Sci-Bono from 5 – 6 December 2019. The league is an 
international robotics competition designed to get 9 – 16 
year-old school learners to participate in science and 
technology activities and teach them valuable life skills. 
The project introduces young children to the fun and 
experience of solving real-world problems by applying 
mathematics, science, and technology. Sci-Bono 
sponsored and mentored five schools around Gauteng 
Province which included 10 learners and one teacher 
per school or team.

The table below provides the statistics of participants in 
the FLL competition:

One Sci-Bono-sponsored team (SB Decryptors) won 
an award and their research project was selected 
with projects of other teams to be assessed for the 
Global Innovation Award. As part of motivation and 
encouragement, Sci-Bono assisted these learners 
to register in the PARC scheduled to take place in 
Kigali, Rwanda. A sponsorship covering flights, 
accommodations and registration fees was acquired 
to ensure a successful participation in the PARC 

ITEM DESCRIPTION STATISTICS

1 Teams 46

2 Team players (Learners) 292

3 Coaches/teachers 76 

4 Team fans 193

5 Public members 84 

Total visitors 645
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competition. However, the PARC competitions were 
postponed due to the prevalence of the COVID-19 
pandemic. Should the situation change for the better, 
teams will be sent to Rwanda in 2021.

SCIENCE COMMUNICATION 
PROGRAMMES

Public presentations on science-related topics offer an 
opportunity for scientists and the public to engage in 
conversations around science. It empowers the public 
to have informed opinions on such issues.

SPEAK TO A SCIENTIST

Sci-Bono hosts a series of public talks on the last 
Thursday evening of each month. Scientists are 
invited to engage the public on current scientific affairs 
and news-making phenomena. 

As part of this process, an invitation was made for 
participants to engage in a talk presented by the NSTFs 
award-winning scientist Mrs Shirona Patel, Head of 
Communications at Wits University. Mrs Patel’s talk 
topic was: ‘How Does Science Become News in South 
Africa’, providing the public with behind-the-scenes 
information. A total of 35 participants, including 
members of the public and girl learners from the Oprah 
Winfrey School for girls, attended. This particular talk 
took place during Women’s Month.

An invitation was made for participants to engage Dr  
Miha Kos from Slovenia on 20 November 2019. He 
presented a topic called ‘Science Centre: A safe 
environment for making mistakes’. In total, 209 
participants attended the talk. Among them, internal 
staff, scientist from Johannesburg Water as well 
as young people took part in the Sci-Bono IT youth 
programme. Due to a good participation in this 
programme, the envisaged target of 50 was exceeded.

On 24 January 2020, Sci-Bono hosted 20 explorers  
from the National Geographic. This team of experts 
comprises scientists, conservations, photographers, 
educators, and storytellers. Their work contributes 
live, behind-the-scenes stories, stunning imagery, 
and gripping experiences from world-renowned 
photographers, scientists, authors, filmmakers, 
conservationists, and adventurers. The National 
Geographic explorers took the audience of 320 people 
into the field where they are working to encourage 
participants to appreciate and learn about the planet 
and generate solutions for a more sustainable future.

SPECIAL PROGRAMMES

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

As part of its vision to help society understand the 
relevance of science, Sci-Bono coordinates various 
community outreach activities throughout the year.  
Sci-Bono presented a range of science shows, 
experiments, and interactive exhibits to public 
institutions and organisations during the past financial 
year. 

Other activities included in External Expos:

The Johannesburg South District Schools Science 
Competition in Mayfair was hosted by ‘Let’s Do It 
2-gether 4 EDUCATION’ in collaboration with Eskom 
Science Expo, engaging an estimated 500 participants. 

Career Activation Day in Mohlakeng hosted a science 
show to the benefit of 76 attendees. Mandela Day 
at Laezonia Primary in rural Centurion engaged 
250 Grade 6 and 7 learners with three science-
show sessions being presented in one day. These  
activities reached 885 learners and public members.

THE CLIMBING WALL EXHIBIT 

The Climbing Wall Exhibit is an in-house climbing 
facility developed at Sci-Bono for children (from aged 5) 
and adults to climb for fun, as part of leisure, recreation 
and keeping their bodies healthy. This interesting 
activity-based exhibit continues to attract many people, 
including members of public and parents of birthday-
party celebrants. The Climbing Wall has been classified 
as part of the birthday package where parents book it  
as one of the activities the birthday celebrant should take 
part in, just like they are now doing with the planetarium. 
Packaging the Climbing Wall in this manner has 
enabled the centre to generate over 1,000 climbs per 
quarter. This also assists in the improvement of revue  
generation for the centre.
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EXHIBITRY
Sci-Bono has over 300 permanent interactive exhibits 
that form the core of a science centre. The centre 
also hosts various temporary and travelling local and 
international exhibitions such as the ones mentioned 
below. In addition, the centre has its own mobile exhibits 
and exhibitions that visit schools, community centres, 
expos, and other venues in and around Gauteng. These 
exhibits and exhibitions assist Sci-Bono to serve its 
core mandate of increasing awareness, interest, and  
STEAM. 

Sci-Bono continues to play a significant role in the entire 
science landscape of South Africa by hosting expos that 
encourage participation through hands-on interaction 
with exhibits. During this reporting period, Sci-Bono (in 
partnership with National Geographic) was delighted to 
launch the new National Geographic kids’ exhibition – 
‘Weird But True!’. The exhibition adds to a collection of 
interactive exhibits. The ‘Weird But True!’ exhibition was 
launched in conjunction with the celebration of Youth 
Month, engaging the eager young minds of tomorrow. 

This exhibition is a wild, entertaining, brain-building, 
visually stunning interactive exhibit which unlocks 
child-like wonder in all ages. For the first time on the 
African continent, this engaging and highly-interactive 
exhibition gives young minds the opportunity to explore 
our amazing and wonderfully weird world.

One of the highlights during this reporting period was 
the successful installation and commissioning of the 
H2O Today exhibition. H2O Today explores the beauty 
and essential nature of water – the planet’s lifeblood. 
The exhibition was organised by SITES. As the world’s 
largest traveling exhibition service, SITES offers 
exhibitions to museums, libraries, science centres, 
historical societies, community centres, botanical 
gardens, schools and other institutions across the 
nation. Also, it examines the diversity and challenges 
of water sources worldwide, promoting conversation, 
creativity and innovation through art, science, and 
technology. 

The success of H2O Today which has contributed to 
the increase in visitors to Sci-Bono has ensured that 
the exhibition will remain in place at Sci-Bono as a 

permanent exhibition for the immediate future. This 
is a strategic partnership with Ticket To The Moon 
Management and SITES.

In addition to H2O Today, 2019 was the 50th year of 
celebrating the first landing of man on the moon. To 
celebrate this achievement, Sci-Bono managed to 
acquire another Smithsonian’s travelling exhibition: 
‘Destination Moon’. This was installed in July 2019. The 
exhibition celebrates the very pertinent South African 
connection with the moon landing with the South African 
invention, ‘Pratley’s Putty’, included in the tool kit that 
the Apollo missions took to the moon. 

This exhibition was made possible with sponsorship from 
the Smithsonian, Ticket To The Moon Management, and 
Andrew Pratley of Pratley’s South Africa. Furthermore, 
the exhibition covers other contributions that South 
Africa has made to the success of the Apollo 11 landing 
on the moon in 1969 through the HarTRaO. Through 
these exhibitions, future and stronger partnerships are 
envisaged to grow – not only locally, but internationally 
as well with partners that include the US Embassy. 
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SCIENCE CAREER 
CENTRE 
The Science Career Centre is a flagship community-
based, full-service career education, info, guidance 
and counselling facility. Its mandate is to deliver 
a comprehensive range of professional career 
development programmes that contributes significantly 
to career education and guidance for learners and 
out-of-school youth in Gauteng. The programmes 
are sponsored by South32, a mining and resources  
company. 

The centre primarily promotes fields of STEM in order 
to align to as well as complement Sci-Bono’s vision. 
The centre offers comprehensive career development 
services to a wide range of clients. Clients include, 
but are not limited to: learners, post-school youth, 
teachers, parents, district officials, school governing 
bodies, community leaders, and organised civil-society 
structures like non-profit and faith-based organisations.
The centre offers the following programmes:

1. Science Careers Education, Info and Advisory 
Services

2. Special programmes with a special focus on the 4IR
3. Career Development Support and Counselling 

Services

The special programmes offering was introduced in 
this financial year and the activities are specifically 
designed to advocate for, as well as promote, science 
careers – especially in 4IR. Special programme content 
is structured around 4IR, its consequences and possible 
impact on the future of jobs. These include changes in 
work patterns and income disparities as a consequence 
of 4IR. Programmes also showcase the enormous 
entrepreneurship opportunities available if learners 
could reimagine the future and adopt a digital mindset.

SCIENCE CAREERS EDUCATION, 
INFO AND ADVISORY SERVICES

This programme delivers group presentations and 
workshops to learners in Grades 7 – 12. The activities 
focus on the world of work, careers, tertiary studies and 
employment options. The presentations and workshops 
are aligned to the CAPS curriculum and focus on 
careers, world of work and the development of self in 
society. The programme also supports out-of-school 
youth with job search skills; hosting as series of special 
events which create awareness about the future of work 
and how it is changing as a result of 4IR. 

The programme houses a career info walk-in centre 
which has a collection of paper and digital career info 
resources. These are used to mediate and facilitate 
career guidance and advice for walk-in clients seeking 
face-to-face guidance sessions. The programme 
also facilitates industry and campus tours to various 
manufacturing sites and universities in order to expose 
learners to the inner workings of the world of work and 
universities. 

The following activities were delivered in the programme 
below:

CAREERS INFO AND ADVISORY 
SERVICES

There are two activities carried out in this programme: 
the Career Info Walk-in Resource Centre and the Face-
to-Face Career Advisory and Guidance Sessions with 
walk-in clients. The Career Info Walk-In Centre is a 
portal for career info resources and is used by learners 
from inner city schools, out-of-school youth and the 
general public to search for employment, training, study 
and bursary opportunities. 

The resource centre is staffed by qualified and skilled 
career education facilitators who provide career 
guidance and advisory services to clients seeking 
assistance in career planning and development. 

A total of 4,023 clients against the annual target of 3,750 
were served in this programme, which amounts to a 7% 
increase in overall performance.

The following milestones were achieved against set 
targets:

CAREER INFO AND ADVISORY SERVICES
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The numbers for the walk-in centre have increased 
steadily over time – largely due to traffic from inner city 
schools and out of school youth. The space has become 
a place to go to for career info, desktop research and 
facilitation into job and study opportunities.

GRADES 7 – 12 GROUP CAREER 
PRESENTATIONS AND WORKSHOPS

This programme consists of a series of presentations 
and workshops which focuses on the world of work, 
careers, study, training and employment options. The 
workshops are aligned to the CAPS curriculum and  
 

focus on careers and subject choices into the FET Phase 
as well as the development of self in society. 

A total of 34,614 learners attended presentations and 
workshops against the set annual target of 29,190. The 
overall performance in this programme increased by 
18.52%.

The following milestones were achieved against targets:
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SPECIAL PROGRAMMES

The aims and objectives of all the special programmes 
is to create awareness, promote and advocate science 
and technology careers, influence attitudes and values 
towards science and technology in order to contribute 
to the uptake and pipeline of STEM careers into 
higher education institutions. The theme for special 
programmes this year was the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution and how this will affect the future of work as 
jobs become more and more automated. 

The centre wanted to initiate and lead the conversation 
around 4IR within the schooling community in order to 
introduce learners to the new order and the era of the 
world without work, the digital economy, its perils and 
opportunities.

The special programmes have become incredibly 
popular, especially with Grade 9 learners. This presents 
enormous opportunities to influence subject choices in 
the right direction. 

A summary of milestones achieved against set targets 
is presented at the end of this section.

ANNUAL GIRL LEARNER PROGRAMME

The programme takes place during Women’s Month 
and celebrates the tenacity and accomplishments of 
women in STEM. The programme attracted academics 
and professional engineers and technologists who gave 
talks on various topics in fields of Agriculture, Logistics, 
Genetics and how AI is changing the technology 
landscape. It also provides opportunities for girl  
learners to engage in discussion and debates with 
accomplished women about gender issues and 
the factors that impede or promote the successful 
integration of young women in the world of work.

In the spirit of inclusive learning, learners from LSEN 
schools were invited and participated in the programme. 

REPRESENTATIVE COUNCIL OF 
LEARNERS’ DIALOGUES AND 
DEBATES

The aim of the dialogues is to initiate conversations 
and debates about the impact of the Fourth Industrial 
Revolution, its broad impact on jobs, skills, wages, 
and the nature of work itself, especially to high-school 
learners who will constitute a large percentage of the 
workforce of the future. 

The dialogues involved RCLs from different schools 
including LSEN schools and agencies involved in ICT 
Youth Development as well as other entities mandated 
to drive youth entrepreneurship development in ICT. The 
focus was on entrepreneurship as a driver of innovation 
and an alternative mode of employment that has the 
potential to introduce new competition in the economy.

The 2019 debates were the first of a series of other 
activities planned for 2020 and beyond. The plan is to 
run an annual programme of events or seminars over 
three years. During this time, learners will generate 
business ideas from concept to prototype, all of which 
will culminate into models of scalable social and 
business ideas that can be presented to development 
funding agencies as prototypes for commercialisation.

GATEWAY TO THE FUTURE

This programme targets Grade 9 learners who are at 
the cusp of choosing subjects for the FET Phase. The 
emphasis is on the changing nature of work and how 
the workplace of the future will look like in the next two 
to three decades, because of technological advances. 
It was led AI industry experts in Augmented Reality, 
Virtual Reality, Machine Learning and Robotics. They 
facilitated discussions about where the next jobs will 
come from with the emergence of new industries and 
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the decline of others. This will help learners to begin to anticipate and plan their 
careers as the next generation of employees of the future. 

INDUSTRY SITE TOURS

This programme is part of Sci-Bono’s learner industry tours initiative and provides a 
platform for Grade 9 learners to experience work environments, which employ skills 
in the trades and vocations. This programme offers excursions, specifically to Grade 9 
learners from technical high schools in order to expose them to manufacturing sites 
in aviation, engineering/manufacturing and the automotive industries. 

The aim of the excursions is to excite learners about the limitless employment 
opportunities in the manufacturing industry; enough to influence their attitudes and 
study choices towards trades and vocations – skills which the economy so desperately 
needs. The learners visited the Auto Body Repair Shop in Midrand and the SEIFSA 
engineering workshops among others.

CAMPUS TOURS 

This programme offers excursions for learners in Grades 10 and 11 to visit central 
admissions centres, faculties and schools in universities to expose them to the 
inner workings of higher education institutions and inspire them to aspire to higher 
education studies. The learners visited Wits University and UJ.

GRADE 7 NATIONAL CAREER DRESS-UP DAY SCIENCE FAIR

This is a national day in the school calendar in which Grade 7 learners dress up in 
apparel, showcase equipment in careers of their choice, and gain some insight into 
the world of work – all in line with one of the outcomes for the Senior Phase Life 
Orientation CAPS Curriculum. It takes place in the month of October.

The Science Career Centre has, over time, introduced science-focused activities in 
the form of science shows, STEM role models and science career quizzes as part of 

the programme to align it with Sci-Bono’s vision. The fair has become popular, the 
target was raised from 500 in the previous financial year to 1000 this year, in response 
to the demand. The programme was supported by the following organisations: 
Johannesburg Zoo, JHB Library, SPCA, Rand Water, Open-Learn-Coding, Department 
of Environmental Services, Gauteng Emergency Services, Little Medical School, and 
Eskom.

GROWING OUR TIMBER CAREER DAYS IN AGRICULTURE 

As one of the most employment-intensive sectors of the economy, agriculture’s 
potential impact on empowerment of rural communities, employment, skills 
development and poverty relief is much larger than its actual weight in the economy 
than the numbers suggest. The aim of Agriculture Career Days is to promote and 
advance the industry and its sectors to the schooling community. 

It also aims to project the agriculture industry as an employer of choice, create a 
platform for learners and educators to interact with role models and industry experts 
employed in the industry, showcase the full range of career opportunities available in 
the industry alongside occupations in high demand, while contributing to the uptake 
of agriculture trades and occupations from high school into institutions of higher 
learning. 

MANUFACTURING CAREER DAYS  

The manufacturing industry and its various sectors hold significant promise for 
unemployed youth – especially in the trades and vocations. The Manufacturing Focus 
Career Days aim to promote the industry and its sectors to the schooling community. 
It also aims to project the agriculture industry as an employer of choice, create a 
platform for learners and educators to interact with role models and industry experts 
employed in the industry, showcase the full range of career opportunities available in 
the industry, promoting occupations in high demand as well as help contribute to the 
uptake of manufacturing trades and occupations from high school into institutions of 
higher learning. 
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PARTICIPATION AT EXTERNAL 
CAREER EXPOS

The centre is periodically invited to support external 
career expos hosted by churches, NGOs and other 
school-based exhibitions. The centre gives presentations 
on grade-specific career decision-making options and 
other related content relevant for career planning and 
development.

WORK READINESS PROGRAMME FOR 
UNEMPLOYED YOUTH

This programme consists of a series of employability 
workshops specifically tailored for out-of-school youth in 
order to prepare them for successful integration as well 
as assimilate the values and conventions appropriate to 
the world of work.

The workshop covers interesting topics such as job 
search skills, emotional intelligence, self-awareness and 

regulation, teamwork and collaboration, employability 
enhancers, and skills for workplace integration. The 
workshop content is developed in-house and future 
plans include fine-tuning and accrediting content, 
offering it to package to post-school students registered 
in learnerships.

A total number of 7,124 learners participated in the 
Special Programmes against the set annual target of 
4,920 which amounts to an increase of 44.80% in overall 
performance.

SPECIAL PROGRAMMES

A summary of milestones achieved against targets for Special Programmes is presented below:
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CAREER DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT 
AND COUNSELLING SERVICES

The programme is staffed by the Resident Educational 
Psychologist, Psychometrist and Counsellor who are 
registered with the HPCSA. Educational Psychologists 
and Psychometrics interns placed in the centre work 
under the supervision of the resident professional staff. 

This programme offers a full spectrum of career 
development and psychological support services, 
including career guidance and counselling, 
psychometric assessments for subject choice, study 
and career decision-making as well as supporting out 
of school youth in career related matters. It includes 
therapeutic and counselling services as well as other 
group based activities for Grades 9 – 12 learners as well 
as out of school youth. Among others, the workshops 
focus on academic skills such as study skills and habits, 
work readiness and employability skills.

PSYCHOMETRIC ASSESSMENTS 

All the activities in this programme include various 
forms and categories of psychometric assessments, 
which range from careers, psycho-educational 
evaluations for learners with barriers to learning, 
selection assessments for placement into positions, 
training development as well as for bursary selection 
purposes.

INDIVIDUAL AND GROUP 
ASSESSMENTS

Individual assessments are conducted on-site for 
clients seeking guidance on subject and career 
choices, psycho-educational evaluations for learners 
with barriers to learning as well as for mature adults 
considering mid-career changes. They are the second 

line of treatment for clients who have been referred 
from the group activities in the career guidance and 
advice programme. 

Feedback sessions are provided to individual clients 
and are therefore much deeper than with group 
assessments, because clients enjoy a safe space 
within which to share extremely sensitive and personal 
information. Most private clients prefer individual 
assessments. 

Group career assessments are offered to Grade 9 and 
12 learners using a variety of tests in order to match 
learner abilities and aptitudes to their expressed career 
interests. Integrated reports are compiled in order to 
obtain client results and profiles for feedback purposes. 
Learners receive feedback sessions in groups. This 
is done to help clients to assimilate the test results in 
order to guide and facilitate their career development 
and planning. Where possible, parents of the assessed 
learners participate in the feedback sessions in order 
to get info on learner test performance so that they can 
support their children. 

As required by HPCSA, advocacy sessions must be 
conducted for group assessments before learners/
clients can be subjected to psychometric assessment 
processes. During these sessions, clients are orientated 
to the right to consent and confidentiality, as prescribed 
in the HPCSA guidelines.

INDIVIDUAL THERAPY AND 
COUNSELLING

Individual counselling and therapy clients come 
through referrals from word-of-mouth as well as from 
referrals from career guidance clients who present 
with underlying socio-emotional issues. The sessions 
are intended to facilitate personal development, contain 
clients in crisis as well as support client emotional 

wellbeing. The service is demand driven and is limited 
to six sessions per client.

GROUP COUNSELLING FOR  
PSYCHO-SOCIAL SKILLS

This series is offered to learners in the Senior and FET 
Phases around the development of self in society and is 
aligned to the CAPS curriculum. The workshops cover 
topics such as bullying, teenage pregnancy, depression 
and anxiety, among others. Every year, the centre places 
Educational Psychology interns in full-service schools 
as well as at the Schools of Specialisations. Services are 
offered on a locum basis for learners who are referred 
by SBSTs for further therapy and counselling. 
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COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT PROGRAMME

This service delivers life-skills workshops to youth from disadvantaged communities 
to encourage them to become catalysts of change in their communities. It also offers 
capacity building workshops for youth volunteers placed in community centres as well 
as equipping parents with parenting skills. 

The Career Development Support and Counselling Programme serviced 4,472 clients 
against the set annual target of 2,960. The overall performance increased by 51%.

INTERNSHIP PROGRAMME

The centre also hosts an annual internship programme in Psychometrics and 

Educational Psychology for honors and masters students respectively. Interns go 
through rigorous training and supervision in order to prepare them for the national board 
exams, which are endorsed by the Board of Psychology for professional registration 
with the HPCSA. Once registered, they earn independent practice credentials and can 
create jobs for themselves and for other interns looking for placement sites which 
offer training and supervision. Most of the interns have successfully passed board 
exams and have become independent professionals and practitioners in their own 
right. 

Of the seven interns (one Educational Psychology and six Student Psychometrists) 
four passed their board exams and the remaining three are sitting for the next run of 
exams which take place in June 2020.

A summary of milestones achieved against set targets is presented below:

CAREER DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT AND COUNSELLING SERVICES

Community Engagement Programmes

Group Counselling / Psycho-social Skills

Therapy & Counselling

Advocacy Sessions

Client Feedback

Psychometric Assessments

Target Achievement

0 275 550 1100825

250

Group Career Counslling

348

540

930

400
474

540

804
610

542

500

245
120

1084

SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2026



HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

1. The Career Development Support and Counselling Services Programme exceeded 
the usual annual threshold of 500 psychometric assessments and conducted 1,004 
assessments for the first time in many years. This threshold was last achieved in 
2012 with more HR capacity than in the current financial year.

2. The Electronic Assessment Centre project was implemented successfully 
and is now operational. The system has reduced the generation of test reports 
significantly and has improved administrative efficiencies.

3. New special programmes were introduced in order to align to the vision of  
Sci-Bono, but also to create awareness in the schooling community about the 
impact of the 4IR on the future of work, subject choices, emerging and declining 
careers. The new programmes are: RCL and Youth Dialogues and Debates, 
Gateway to the Future, Work Readiness Workshop Series for Unemployed Youth 
as well as Career Days in Manufacturing and Agriculture. The content of previous 
presentations was reviewed in order to fit in with the 4IR theme.

4. The centre published a series of life-skills factsheets which can be downloaded 
from the Sci-Bono website.
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SCHOOL SUPPORT 
UNIT

SECONDARY SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAMME

Much of our activity during this financial year focused 
on offering supplementary tuition to learners in priority 
schools. Sci-Bono continued to manage the GDE’s SSIP.
 
The SSIP is a GDE supplementary tuition programme 
that supported 68,001 Grade 12 learners in 441 schools 
in 2019. The programme ran at 188 sites throughout the 
province. Tuition took place on Saturdays and during 
school holidays and offered support in 12 gateway 
subjects. Support was also offered in Technical 
Mathematics and Technical Physical Science. 
 
The programme also ran residential and Walk-In 
Camps during the school holidays. A total number of 
20,740 learners attended the residential camps. This 

programme has become a standard component of 
schooling in priority schools and is credited as a major 
contributing factor to the improvement of the provincial 
pass rate.

EMASONDOSONDO MOBILE SCIENCE 
PROJECT 

Emasondosondo is the isiZulu word for ‘wheels’ 
and aims to put learners on the road to success. The 
programme provides support in Physical Science and 
Mathematics to 4,333 learners in Grades 10 to 12 in 6 
Schools of Specialisation and 309 learners in 4 MEC 
Schools. A team of specialised teachers visits schools 
throughout the year and help with the teaching of maths 
and science.

Tuitions at the Schools of Specialisation take place 
during the school term for a period of 3 weeks at each 
school. The outreach team prepares and presents 
sections/topics which the teacher finds challenging. The 
team also performs physical science experiments which 
assists with school-based assessment at schools.

Intervention at MEC Schools is in the form of a revision 
of Grade 10 and 11 Mathematics and Physical Science. 
Tuition at these schools takes place during the school 
holidays.

There were four primary schools that are feeder schools 
to the Schools of Specialisation, which were supported. 
The objective was to support feeder primary schools 
by stimulating interest in mathematics and science. 
The interest was stimulated through science shows 
and interactive exhibitions. The programme was to the 
benefit of 2,180 learners.

TEACHER TRAINING 
AND DEVELOPMENT 
Sci-Bono provides teacher training in MST and other FET 
technical subjects for the GDE Teacher Development 
Directorate. This training is implemented in cooperation 
with the Mathew Goniwe School of Governance and 
Leadership, the province’s training institute. 

MST Teacher Development sub-directorate focuses on 
building teachers’ competency in curriculum content, 
methodology and assessment. It also seeks to develop 
teachers’ proficiency in teaching using ICT and PAT 
skills through a DBE conditional grant. 

From 2019 – 2020, Sci-Bono offered the SACE-endorsed 
training to 15,717 teachers in the foundation: Immediate, 
Senior Phase, FET, and FET Technology Phases. In the 
foundation phase, Sci-Bono trains teachers on the 
different topics of mathematics including ‘Integrated 
Teaching, Learning & Assessment in 5 Content Areas 
of Mathematics’. Sci-Bono trains teachers in the 
Intermediate Phase on Natural Science & Technology on 
Planet Earth and Beyond in the ‘Use of ICT Applications/ 
Software’; Senior Phase teachers in the following: 
Mathematics, Natural Science and Technology, the 
FET Phase teachers in Mathematics, Mechanical, Civil 
and Electrical Technology, Mathematical Literacy, Life 
Sciences, and Physical Sciences.

Assessments are always administered before and 
after our workshops to identify the efficacy of the 
training. In some instances, the PAT were considered 
part of this assessment. The graph below summarises  
Sci-Bono’s average attendance per programme during 
the reporting period:
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Target Average

TARGET VERSUS AVERAGE 2019/2020
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ICT ACADEMY 
The year 2019/2020 was an exciting year for the ICT 
Academy as we directly impacted the lives of over 10,163 
beneficiaries, including unemployed youth, school 
learners, teachers, Sci-Bono staff and members of the 
public through a range of ICT training programmes, 
learning opportunities, engagements and SACE-
endorsed programmes for teachers. 

The most exciting developments were the introduction 
of drone technology in schools and Sci-Bono, the 
expansion of the 3D design and printing projects, the 
increase of the number of robotics clubs at schools, and 
the introduction of coding for the Foundation Phase. 

The ICT Academy provides internationally-accredited 
certification and skills for success in the digital 
economy by offering relevant accredited training that is  
responsive to current market dynamics of digital 
transformation, technology disruption and the IT 
evolution. It is accredited as a Microsoft Imagine 
Academy, a CompTIA Academy Partner, MICT SETA, 
Cisco IT Academy, Cisco Instructor Training Centre, and 
Cisco Academy Support Centre. 

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT 
PROGRAMME 

Annually, 180 youth are enrolled in a full-time one-
year programme where they are equipped with formal 
internationally-recognised qualifications and skills. 
They gain the following certification: Cisco IT Essentials, 
Introduction to Cybersecurity, Linux Essentials, 
Networking Essentials, CCNA: Routing & Switching, 
CCNA Security, Internet of Things, Programming in C, 
C++, Python, Web Development, CCNA Cyber Operations 
and Microsoft Office Applications. The technical training 
is supplemented with career education and personal 
skills development for improved chances of economic 
and personal success.

SUCCESS STORY 

Isabel Bocolo enrolled for the YDP in 2019 and before 
completion of the course developed a fully functioning 
website for a client. Her work can be viewed on  
www.mikeshamba.com.

76 youth from formal youth organisations received basic 
digital literacy skills to ensure digital functionality in 
formal and personal spheres of their lives.

LEARNER PROGRAMMES

Sci-Bono provides access to digital resources and 
programmes to under-resourced schools and com-
munities through the following programmes:

CLUBHOUSE

The Sci-Bono Clubhouse exposed 741 learners aged 
9 – 18 learners to coding, robotics, applications and 
web development, graphic design, 3D designs, 2D 
and 3D modelling, animation, video production, basic 
computing, virtual art, music design and production. 
This is a daily after-school programme that ensures that 
no learner is left behind as it provides under-resourced 
learners access to digital resources and programmes  
to ensure their digital transformation and full 
participation in the 4IR.

The Clubhouse continues to grow and excel in the  
creative space as its members annually participate 
in national and global competitions and exciting 
collaborations with industry partners:
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• Sci-Bono initiated a pilot project in January 2020: 11 
learners from Rhodesfield Technical High School, 
three Clubhouse mentors and two Clubhouse 
staff members enrolled at RPAS for training of 
the South African Civil Aviation Authority (SACAA) 
accredited Remote Pilot (Drone) License. The 
qualification enables successful candidates to 
operate commercial drones. This forms part of the 
GDE multi-certification programme which aims to 
provide learners with industry-related certification 
to improve their chances of employment through 
skills development and certification. 

• In the robotics space, the Clubhouse participates in 
the FLL Robotics competition as well as the more 
advanced FIRST Tech Challenge. This challenge is 
designed for students in Grades 7 – 12 to design, 
build and programme an 18 x 18 inch robot over the 
course of a five-month regular season, competing in 
an alliance format against other teams. Clubhouse 
girls participated in the Technovation Change for 
Girls where participants identify a social problem 
and develop an app as a solution.

• Animation SA, in collaboration with Tshimologong, 

welcomed 20 Clubhouse members at the 
Anamarathon hosted at the annual Fak’ugesi 
Festival on 3 – 4 September 2019. These learners 
were assigned to professionals in the industry to 
receive exposure to the full animation production 
process.

• Clubhouse members participated in the annual 
Global Reach Competition, where learners use 
technology to create projects in different categories 
to highlight global social issues. The five projects 
on the right were nominated and two of the projects 
made it to the finals of the competition.

DELL SOLAR LEARNING LABS

Technology is taken to school communities at the 
Dell Solar Learning Labs. These include Mapetla 
Secondary School, Emdeni Secondary School, Rust-
Ter-Vaal Primary, and Waverley Girls’ High School. This 
programme reached 3,021 beneficiaries who consist of 
learners from Clubhouse programmes and certification 
programmes to its Grade 11 and 12 learners, school 
staff, and community members. 
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• The Emdeni Secondary Solar Lab Robotics Club 
learners won the regional award for the ‘Best Robot’ 
category, moving them into the finals of the National 
Robotics Competition in December 2019.

• The Solar Lab service is offered to over 600 Waverley 
Girls’ High School learners due to the integration of 
the Solar Lab ICT training into the timetable. The 
learners have enthusiastically adopted the use of 
technology for creative promotional and informative 
products, the completion of assignments, bursary 
applications as well as job and learning opportunities. 

• A total of 40 Grade 8 learners at Waverley Girls’ 
High School were enrolled for the iNERD pilot MST 
Learner Programme (implemented by iNERD). The 
six-week programme exposes learners to a range of 
practical MST Programmes and a Dell Professional 
is assigned to mentor each learner for the duration 
of the course.

• All Solar Lab schools are registered as Cisco IT 
Academies, offering internationally-recognised 
Cisco certification courses to all its learners. 
Learners also have access to the Microsoft Digital 
Literacy Certification.

Two consecutive burglaries at the Rus-Ter-Vaal Primary 
School Solar Lab resulted in the temporary suspension 
of all activities at the lab. 

DIMENSION DATA SATURDAY SCHOOL

The Sci-Bono IT Academy trained 100 Grade 11 – 12 
learners on cybersecurity, Python, IOT and robotics. 
This programme is offered at the Dimension Data 
Saturday School over Saturdays and selected school 
holidays.

CODING AND ROBOTICS 

Robotics Clubs were established at the Schools of 

Specialisation and Twinning Schools engaging 262  
Grade 4 – 9 learners in a variety of activities in the coding 
and robotics space. Inadequate resources severely 
hamper the expansion of this project. 

MICROSOFT DIGITAL LITERACY 

Microsoft Digital Literacy was introduced to senior-
phase learners at the Schools of Specialisation as a 
10-day after-school programme. Learners received a 
Microsoft Certificate of Competence upon successful 
completion of the course. The training enables learners 
to create professional documents such as CVs and 
letters of application, do basic accounting and automated 
calculations in Excel, perform online applications for 
bursaries, study and job opportunities, and conduct 
effective research as digitally-responsible citizens.

TRAINING FOR TEACHERS

COMPUTER APPLICATIONS 
TECHNOLOGY AND INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY TEACHER TRAINING 

A total of 405 CAT and 97 IT teachers were trained from 
7 September 2019 to February 2020. The programme 
was developed with a focus on challenging content 
areas, solution development, pedagogy, cognitive levels 
and assessments. 

CODING FOR FOUNDATION PHASE

The Coding for FP was launched in October 2019 as a 
pilot project in collaboration with GDE. The project 
was implemented at 6 Twinning Schools, Rust-Ter-Vaal 
Primary, and Lufhereng Primary School. 

118 teachers were trained on Scratch – a free, easy-

to-use programming tool that helps users create 
stories, games, art, music, and animations. It teaches 
basic programming concepts, logic and structure that 
enable participants to to create practical products that 
incorporate animation, multimedia, and interactive 
elements. This popular and practical tool has  
applications across grade levels and content areas. 
Scratch projects are a great way to address 21st-
century information and technology skills while 
promoting creativity, problem-solving, reasoning, 
and collaboration. The programme aims to provide all 
foundation phase teachers with essential coding and 
programming skills. In this way, they can teach coding 
to learners from a very young age. Skills will be taught 
progressively over the three years, resulting in more 
skilled young coders.

The project was kick-started during ACW’s activities 
where over 5,276 learners, and over 200 teachers at 
selected pilot schools received exposure to an hour 
of coding in Scratch. The training was met with great 
enthusiasm by learners who were able to code in 
Scratch within one hour.

ICT TRAINING FOR SCI-BONO STAFF 
AND THE PUBLIC

A total of 132 Sci-Bono staff members attended the 
cybersecurity awareness workshop and received 
training on basic-to-expert-level Microsoft Office 
Applications which include Word, Excel, Access, Visio, 
and MS Project. A total of 223 Microsoft Office Specialist 
Examinations and 5 expert-level examinations were 
written.
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ACADEMY SUPPORT CENTRE AND INFORMATION AND 
COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY

The Sci-Bono ASC was registered in 2018. Since then, it has forged strong  
partnerships with GDE, industry, government institutions, and non-profit 
organisations. The purpose of this is to increase the scale of access to education and 
career opportunities as well as contribute to the skills gap and provide a number 
of qualified experts who are in demand in the ICT Industry. The ASC has formed 
strong partnerships with TVET Colleges and has made a valuable contribution to the 
training of TVET Instructors as part of the integration of Cisco Courses in the new 
TVET curriculum. The Instructor Training Centre trained, assessed and certified 37 
new CCNA instructors and 110 IT Essentials instructors. Instructor training for the 
Department of Social Services’ youth organisations is scheduled.

A total of 12 public South African and African organisations, and 15 Gauteng schools 
are registered under the Sci-Bono ASC. These academies received on-boarding and 
ongoing support on training, services, curriculum design, classroom setup, equipment 
and resource selection, staff training and orientation, curriculum updates and change 
initiatives, and other critical communication from Cisco, etc. 

FP TEACHERS CODING
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SUPPORT TO THE 
CORE FUNCTION 
The support function is responsible for the internal 
administration, logistics, finances, risk management 
and the maintenance of high standards of health and 
safety in the organisation, to support the core functions. 

The support function has two main divisions (with 
their respective subdivisions), which are under the 
directorate of the Chief Financial Officer:

FINANCE

• Financial Management
• Risk Management
• Payroll
• Procurement

CORPORATE SERVICES

• Human Resources Management
• Facilities Management
• Marketing and Communications
• Events Management

06

The following non-core items serves to add value to the core functions of Sci-Bono. These services are 
supporting in nature, engaging in peripheral activities to bolster the combined offering as a whole.

NON-CORE BUSINESS

FIGURE 2: GDE Transfers
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FIGURE 3: Types of GDE Transfers

TYPES OF GDE TRANSFERS

MST Conditional Grant STEAM Support Programmes

8%

92%

The activities of Sci-Bono are mainly funded from the 
GDE programme budget transfers. The total actual 
transfers for 2019/20 financial year are R220 million, up 
by R11 million from R209 million in 2018/19
financial year as per Figure 2.

The transfers are made up of R17 million for MST 
Conditional Grant and R203 million for STEAM support 
programmes, respectively as per Figure 3.

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
The finance unit is responsible for the budgeting, procurement planning and management, financial management, 
disbursement of the funds, risk management and the overall monitoring of the internal control environment within 
the organisation.
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REVIEW OF RESULTS

Overall, revenue increased by R8 million (3%) from R248 million in 2018/19 to R255 million during the financial 
period. This increase is mainly made up of the funding as follows; SSIP R167 million; TDU R16,7 million, MST 
Conditional Grant R17 million, MST Learner Achievements R13 million and Dell R1,5 million. The Sci-Bono normal 
operations contributed R8,4 million (3%) to total revenue, as per Figure 4. 

NON-CORE BUSINESS
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REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets increased by R21,6 million or 3% from 
R632 million in 2018/19 financial year to R653,7 
million in 2019/20, trade and other receivables R38 
million made up of VAT input of R27 million and trade 
receivables of R11 million and; while cash & cash 
equivalents decreased from R21,6 million to R8,8 
million, investments increased from R148,9 million to 
R203,3 million as a result of cost saving initiatives and 
improved project management cost methods.

Deferred income remained steady decreasing by R3,2 
million from R189,8 million to R186,6 million.

Retained earnings increased from R268,6 million in 
2018/19 to R293,1 million in 2019/20. Trade and other 
payables increased by R3 million from R6,6 million to 
R9,6 million.

CONCLUSION

Sci-Bono will continue to manage risks by implementing 
corrective measure, monitoring and evaluations, 
improved financial management and sustainability; 
and improvements information technology and people 
management.

Over the year management had done well to grow 
retained earnings to R293,1 million by containing 
costs against rising inflation, declining interest rates 
and funding struggles. This attributable to improved 
planning processes and just in time procurement.

FIGURE 5: Total Expenditure
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Interest income decreased from R12,9 million to R11,5 million, representing a 10% decline as a result of the delays 
in receiving some of the critical and significant funding.

Project expenditure increased by R2,4 million (or 2%) from R157 million in the prior financial period to R159 million 
in 2019/20 financial period. The increase in project spending is in line with the increase in revenue, which increased 
by 3%. Operating expenses went down by R10 million (or 11%) from R95,6 million to R85,5 million, as per Figure 5.

A detailed report on the programmes/projects is provided for under the COO’s report (Core-Business Report).

Sci-Bono recorded a surplus of R21,8 million during the 2019/20 financial period, an increase of R14 million from a 
surplus of R7,5 million in 2018/19 financial period. As a result retained earnings grew from R268,6 million reported 
in 2018/19 financial period to R293,1 million in 2019/20 financial period.
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CORE BUSINESS

CORPORATE SERVICES
HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As the organisation move through the 4IR, a new 
effective strategy had to be developed in order in order 
to reposition the organisation. The HRM department 
support the overall organisation strategy in terms of 
learning and development. The role of HRM is to build 
winning teams and foster a passion for performance. 
This aim is to inspire a high-performance culture that 
drives a strong customer experience, which translates 
into strong financial outcomes. Getting people to work 
together in highly collaborative team-based ways is one 
of our key objectives. Our credibility in HRM is grounded 
in trust. It is a privilege for us to advise the CEO, and 
members of our executive team as well as managers, on 
highly sensitive matters. We are a true strategic partner 
that seeks to create a culture that is conducive to the 
aspirations of the organisation, focused on driving high 
performance, helping the organisation to achieve its 
goals. 

FUNCTIONAL STRUCTURE 

Our strategic objectives are to capacitate the 
organisation with equipped human capital and drive the 
process of transfer and migration. Our target is include 

skills auditing, job grading, effective recruitment and 
talent management, in order to achieve this we need an 
efficient organisational structure, our current structure 
is under review and proposed new functional structure 
has been approved by the Board.

STAFF DEMOGRAPHY

The size of the organisation’s staff compliment has 
decreased over the last year due to staff turnover. The 
current staff compliment is 271 as of 29 February 2020. 
About 27 terminations were put into effect this financial 
year-end, of which one of the terminations were due to 
the tragic loss of one of our executive members – Chief 
Operations Officer, Ms Tebogo Gule.

Headcount
The total headcounts as of 29 February 2020 is 271 for 
Sci-Bono staff, which consists of the following:

• Full-time employees   160
• Fixed-term contract employees 27 
• Casuals    80 
• Psychometric interns    4 MS TEBOGO GULE

It broke our hearts to lose you
but you didn’t go alone

for part of us went with you
that day that God called you home

Memorial Service
In Loving Memory of the late 

Ms Tebogo Gule

The Life of the late Ms Tebogo Gule
Ms. Tebogo Gule, Chief Operations Officer at the Sci-Bono 

Discovery Centre, the biggest science centre in the Sub-Saharan 
Africa. She was a fellow of the American Association for 

Advancement of Science. She was a Science Engagement expert 
with multiple years of experience in various management, 

leadership and policy development roles. 

Tebs as she was affectionately known spent years as a Deputy 
Director of Science Engagement Programmes in the Department of 
Science and Technology and was instrumental in the development 
of a number of  Science Engagement Frameworks and Strategies 
that championed the development of science engagement in the 

country. She was currently overseeing the redevelopment of 
Sci-Bono as a world-class science centre and a leading tourist 

destination in South Africa.

Ms. Gule holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Science from the North 
West University, recently completed the only accredited Science 

Communication Course in South Africa with the University of 
Stellenbosch’s CREST Centre; and had currently started her studies 

towards an MBA.  

She is a daughter, a mother, a loyal friend and diligent worker 
passionate about the participation of girls in particular Science, 

Technology and Innovation.

Tebogo lived by the motto: Give what you want to receive. 
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PERMANENT STAFF
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FIGURE 7: Number of fixed-term contract employees 
per quarter

FIXED-TERM EMPLOYEES
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FIGURE 8: Number of casual contracts per quarter

CASUAL EMPLOYEES
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FIGURE 6: Number of permanent employees per 
quarter

Permanent Employees
By 29 February 2020, the total number of permanent 
employees in Sci-Bono stood at 160. See Figure 6.

Fixed-Term Contract Employees
The total number of the fixed-term contract employees 
is 27 by 29 February 2020. See Figure 7.

Casuals 
The total number of casual employees is 80 at this 
period. See Figure 8.
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OVERVIEW

FIGURE 9: Number of interns per quarter
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FIGURE 10: Number of SSIP trainers per quarter

SSIP TRAINERS
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FIGURE 11: Number of independent contractors per 
quarter

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS
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Interns
Four new interns started at the Science Career Centre 
on 1 January 2020. Three of the interns’ contracts 
are ending on 30 June 2020, while psychometrics and 
psychological services contracts will end in December 
2020. See Figure 9.

The total headcount on 29 February 2020 was 3,145 for 
Projects staff; it is made up of the following: 

• SSIP trainers    2,861
• Independent contractors  368
• TOTAL    3229

SSIP Trainers
The number of SSIP trainers increased from 2,808 
to 2,861 compared to the last reporting period.  
See Figure 10.

Independent Contractors Per Quarter
The number of independent contractors increased 
from 337 to 368 compared to the last reporting period. 
(See Figure 11.) SSIP and independent contractors are 
contracted annually. Their contract agreements are 
renewed on a yearly basis, within the new financial year. 
All contracts were terminated at the end of the current 
financial year, ending February 2020.

We successfully submitted the Employment Equity plan 
for a one-year period on the 15 January 2020.
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Employment Equity Breakdown for Sci-Bono 
From our workplace profile, we have identified that Top 
Management represents only 0.74% of the total staff. 
One concern is inadequate female representation at 
Top-Level Management. The strategic objective would 
be to develop and upskill at least one female candidate; 
to be placed in a Top-Level Management position, over 
time.

On the skilled and technical level, representation is 
good and female employees are particularly well-
represented. African, Coloured, Indian, and Caucasian 
males are not represented, and provision needs to be 
made to develop and/or upskill them from the current 
workforce. Alternatively, this can be addressed by 
recruitment with our sights set on future needs as well 
as addressing shortfalls. White female employees may 
also be considered.

There is a shortfall in relation to Coloured, Indian and 
Caucasian male employees in both skilled and semi-
skilled areas. These will have to be addressed going 
forward. Disabled people will be recruited at this level 
as a means of addressing the shortfall, where people 
with disabilities are concerned. These considerations 
will ensure compliance with the EE Act.

Training and Development 
In the year under review, ± R946,608.34 has been 
allocated to 82 employees as a study grant. Over 200 
staff members were trained on Microsoft packages by 
our internal ICT department. The training enhanced 
employee skills; especially that of elementary staff. 
The training equips employees with skill sets that allow 
them to take on a great variety of work and improve 
operations in the department. All our elementary staff 
are now connected to laptops and internet which enable 
them to apply for their leave online, receive and send 
emails, and perform timesheet administration. Our 
security can now efficiently use the Helpdesk System; 

a paperless system that is in line with our move into the 
virtual world. Cyber security was another important 
training subject that was offered to employees. The 
Cyber-Security Awareness and Prevention Course 
taught employees how to keep their network safe, 
helping them to stay safe on the internet, including 
email security. The course goal was to train employees 
on how to reduce organisational risk, to protect valuable 
assets of the organisation, and protect the information 
and reputation of the organisation. 

Well-Maintained Work/Life Balance 
The HRM department also facilitated several staff 
events. One example is the health-and-financial 
employee wellness day that we hosted. This wellness 
event aims to promote and maintain the physical and 
mental health of our employees. It is also about reducing 
risks to employees’ health and wellness through safe 
work practices, healthy work environments, and 
responsible hosting of company events. This health 
wellness initiative is one of our strategy components 
that aim to improve employee health behaviours while 
lowering health risks and reducing absenteeism due to 
health issues. 

Financial wellness involves the process of learning 
how to successfully manage financial expenses. Money 
plays a critical role in our lives, and not having enough 
of it impacts health as well as work performance. When 
the majority of employees feel financially well, they are 
more likely to feel that they can effectively manage their 
day-to-day finances, pay bills while saving for future 
goals, including planning for their retirement. 

Staff also participated in external events like 702 
Walk the Talk, Bounce, Avon Walkerthon, and Soweto 
Marathon. One of the most prominent benefits of 
exercise is protection against health conditions and 
improved mental health. We ended the year with a staff 
year-end function. 

Performance Management 
The policy was reviewed by stakeholders in various 
forums; duly facilitated by our HRM department. The 
Board gave a go-ahead with the provision that it is a 
work in progress. The target date to launch the PMDS, 
start implementation and roll-out of the process for 
contracting was 1 March 2020.

We have engaged with employees through workshop 
sessions and the session covered the following:

• PMDS philosophy and principles for Sci-Bono
• The methodology – scorecard usage and examples
• New concepts for performance management
• Poor performance management
• Support mechanism available to employees 

optimally
• Performance-management dispute resolution 

Now that we have the new system in place, our objective, 
in line with our strategy, is to support current and future 
business needs through development, engagement, 
motivation and preservation of human capital through 
the implementation of talent management, skills 
mapping, job profiling, job grading, and an effective 
reward-management system. 

FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

Another year has passed and the Sci-Bono’s built 
environment continues to improve. The many positive 
changes to our Sci-Bono precinct over the past year did 
not just happen on their own. It takes committed staff in 
the facilities department, alignment with organisational 
goals and finance, support and collaboration from 
other departments – and most importantly, a culture 
of customer service and professionalism from all who 
represent Facilities Management. We had a total budget 
of R29,5 million of which R8,8 million was for operations 
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and R20,7 million was for capital expenditure. Our asset 
book value stands at R403 million. 

Maintenance remains one of our biggest challenges; 
especially when considering the aging infrastructure of 
Phase 1. Finding suitable replacement parts presents 
a major challenge as many are no longer in production. 
Yet, in most cases, faulty parts will end up being replaced 
and not repaired. This, in turn, skyrockets maintenance 
costs. The department has fully outsourced the 
maintenance of the services set out in the table to the 
right.

Major Repairs  
A tender for a water-harvesting plant was advertised 
and it was not responsive. A water-harvesting plant has 
not been operational for quite some time; having it fully 
operational would greatly assist in reducing our water 
bill.

Underground water harvested would be used to flush 
toilets, urinals, and water plants. The tender will be 
advertised again in the following year.

Electrical Services
An electrical conditional assessment was conducted in 
the previous financial year. Remedial work has started 
with the most part of it done internally. 

Servicing of all lifts – (Monthly)

Servicing of sprinkler system (Quarterly)

Servicing of backup generator (Yearly)

Servicing of UPS (Yearly)

Servicing of fire pump generator (Yearly)

Servicing of all submersible pumps (Phase 2)

Servicing of fire hydrants and fire extinguishers (Quarterly)

Servicing of underfloor heating system Phase 1 & 2 
(Must be inspected and serviced once in three years)

Servicing of boiler machines – Phase 2 (Must be inspected and serviced once in three years)

Servicing of air-conditioning 
(Risk assessment must be conducted once every two years according to REF Ergonomic Regulations 6(2) and 
ERW 5(1).)

Servicing of all air vents (Quarterly) 

Servicing of a compressor system – Phase 1 (Yearly)

Servicing of an extraction System – Phase 1 Office Block (Yearly)

Servicing of smell extractor fans – (Ablutions) (All phases) (Quarterly)

Servicing of electrical doors (Twice a year)

Servicing of waterproofing (Yearly)

Servicing of gutters (Yearly)
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Architecture and Design
The department was able to develop a space-planning 
document. Approved by the CEO, the document 
recommended the refurbishment and reallocation of 
office space. This would ensure effective and efficient 
use of space.

Fleet Management
Sasol donated another mobile laboratory which now 
increases our fleet to nine units. A fleet management 
policy was also reviewed and approved by the Board.

Landscape Services 
Landscape Services planted over 1,000 plants and trees 
in order to green our environment and also improve 
office air quality. These are mostly indigenous plants 
and trees. Most of the trees were obtained through 
donations. Discussions surrounding fully utilising our 
rooftop by planting a hydroponic farm are underway. 
The rooftop is currently not being utilised effectively, 
having a farm would optimise the use of the building. 
The farm would be used as urban agriculture learning 
centre. It would attract not only learners, but the 
agriculture sector, and entrepreneurs – dovetailing with 
our strategic goals as follows:

Goal 1: Build a competent society in the world of science: 
Organising educational tours for learners and members 
of the public.

Goal 2: Build strong research and development (R&D) 
capacity: The farm will enable Sci-Bono to collaborate 
with other institutions to run tests and conduct research 
on different plants, while testing new hydroponic 
technology to support information provided to urban 
farmers and stakeholders around Gauteng. In addition, 
this farm would align to the United Nations’ 2020 
declaration and its Sustainable Development Goals. 
The UN has declared 2020 as the International Year 
of Plant Health. In order to raise global awareness 
on how protecting plant health can help end hunger, 
reduce poverty, protect the environment, and boost 
economic development, Sci-Bono would run the farm 
and contribute to this goal.

Property Management
In the year under review,leased property under the 
property-management unit underperformed. We have 
seen occupancy rate dropping until only one tenant 
remained. Currently, the organisation is running at 
a loss; the projected income for the year 2019/20 was 
R549,000. The amount collected was R363,000. More 
effort should be invested in this regard to ensure that 
this business unit generates the necessary income.

Safety and Security
A lot of upgrades were implemented during the current 
financial year. Clearvu fencing around the building was 
installed. Additional CCTV cameras were also installed. 

We saw improvement on access control as an electronic 
help desk and vehicle-control system were implemented 
to create a safer environment for Sci-Bono.

Information Technology
Our IT department also had some challenges with theft 
which resulted in valuable IT equipment lost. Our IT 
assets are valued at R4 million. The FM IT continues to 
be instrumental in our success as we need to maintain 
and deploy new technology to improve efficiencies in 
all of our processes. VOIP was purchased, installation 
initiated, and all services should be fully operational in 
the next financial year. This service aims to drastically 
reduce telephone communication costs. 

Re-engineering and Capacitation of the Department
Towards the end of the year, the organisation reviewed 
its strategy, which resulted in a departmental review. 
The department’s structure has since been reviewed in 
order to capacitate the department render services. 

Another initiative was to upskill all staff members in 
the department. All employees were studying facilities 
management and maintenance-related courses. This 
drives the insourcing of most of the maintenance 
services and builds internal capacity that benefits the 
organisation through savings.

Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.
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MARKETING AND 
COMMUNICATIONS
The Marketing and Communications Department is responsible for Sci-Bono’s 
marketing, media relations, advertising, internal and external communications. It is 
also responsible for general and online communications. 

From 2019 to 2020, Sci-Bono has seen an increase in its media coverage. The increase 
is attributed to the fact that we host various temporary and travelling local and 
international exhibitions. These include the National Geographic’s kids’ ‘Weird but 
True!’ exhibition. The exhibition was a first for the African continent, along with the 
H2O Today Exhibition that focuses mainly on water education.

Marketing and Communications remain focused on providing support to the core 
business of the organisation, including all the internal and external programmes and 
activities that are designed to inspire our stakeholders. 

Our media platforms are a contributing factor to our overall AVE, which amounted 
to R16,954 424.28 in this period i.e.: the rand value of media coverage, measured by 
the cost of what would have been paid if purchasing the same amount of adverting 
space. As an NPO, Sci-Bono would have not been able to afford such a large amount. 
Therefore, this is an impressive achievement.

We have also seen good social media growth; this is also shown in higher ratings and 
reviews in Google, TripAdvisor, and Facebook. Sci-Bono continues to enjoy enormous 
media presence as indicated in the graph below.

FIGURE 12: Social media growth 
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One of our public relations objectives is to participate in expos and exhibitions as an effective means to highlight and create science awareness to different stakeholders.
By special invitation, Sci-Bono is also afforded the opportunity to exhibit at different expos and exhibitions, which provides the centre with an excellent direct-marketing 
opportunity. See Table of exhibitions that Sci-Bono participated in.

EXHIBITIONS VENUE TARGET AUDIENCE

ICT Summit Turffontein
International, private and public sector  
ICT professionals, and companies

Rand Show NASREC Public

My Future 4.0 The Ticketpro Dome Parents, learners, teachers, and the public

Youth Expo NASREC Youth, learners, teachers, and the public 

STEM Science Fair and Edu Expo Mayfair Public

Youth Day Career Expo Mohlakeng Youth and the public

Girls STEM Seminar Vaal University of Technology Students, youth, and public

SCOPEX Telescope & Astronomy EXPO Military Historical Museum Youth, learners, teachers, and the public 

Maritime Heritage Conference Quest Conference Centre Youth, learners, teachers, and the public 

3rd Gauteng Climate Change Indaba Velmore Hotel and Conference Centre Learners, public, and private sectors

Science Advancement in partnership with Sasol and Department of 
Education hosted: Science Show Focus Week

Bronkhorstpruit Primary schools from rural areas and farms

SAASTA on behalf of the Department of Science and Technology 
hosted: Taung Space Week

Taung Learners in disadvantaged communities

Office of the Premier: State of the Province Address Sefako Makgatho Health Sciences University (SMU) Learners, public, and private sectors

Ndingilizi Experience Outreach Programme Protea Glen, Soweto Learners, parents, and the public 

TABLE: Exhibitions that Sci-Bono participated in

EVENTS
This financial year saw growth in the number of events 
and conferences that took place. Sci-Bono hosted 
over 150 events, meetings and conferences during the 
financial year 2019 – 2020. Annual highlights included 
the National Geographic’s ‘Weird But True!’ exhibition 
launched on 15 June 2019 and the H20 exhibition 
launched on 3 October 2019. 

Other events hosted at the centre:

• JASA Digital Maths and Science Colloquium 
Innovation Camp: Runs over a two-week period in 
collaboration with Siyavula and GDE

• Technical Day (hosted by GDE)
• RSUMML Lecture and Exhibition  

• A visit by Ms Aisha Bowe who held a talk during the 
Girl Learner Programme on STEM programmes 
and workshops.

• Annual lecture by The Ahmed Kathrada 
Foundations

• JHC – two-day conference and teambuilding
• Film shoot by Akwande Productions
• Strategy workshop by ICRD Group
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CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

All members of the Board are NED’s  in terms of the  
Sci-Bono Memorandum of Incorporation. It is important 
to note that the CEO is an ex officio member of the Board 
of Directors. As at 28 February 2020, the Sci-Bono Board 
of Directors was composed of the following members:

• Mr Abbey Witbooi (Chairperson)
• Ms Nandipha Madiba (Deputy Chairman)
• Rev Frank Chikane 
• Prof Bongani Bantwini
• Mr Sathie Gounden
• Mr Zeth Malele
• Ms Patricia Maloka
• Adv Lentswe Mokgatle
• Dr Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka
• Prof Khulekani Sitole

Ex Officio Member
Dr More Chakane (1 April 2017 – present)

The Board met six times during the financial year  
(see Table 1 for members’ attendance).

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES SPECIAL MEETINGS

29/05/2019 30/07/2019 28/11/2019 24/02/2020 03/10/2019 29/01/2020

Mr Abbey Witbooi √ √ √ √ √ √

Ms Nandipha Madiba √ * √ √ √ *

Rev Frank Chikane √ * √ * √ *

Prof Bongani Bantwini √ √ √ √ √ √

Prof Khulekani Sitole √ * √ √ √ √

Adv Lentswe Mokgatle √ √ √ * √ *

Ms Patricia Maloka √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Sathie Gounden * √ √ √ √ √

Dr Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka √ * √ √ √ √

Mr Zeth Malele √ √ √ √ √ √

TABLE 1: BOARD MEETINGS ATTENDED

KEY:  √ Present | * Apology noted | # Absent | √* Teleconference | N/A Not appointed at time
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MR SATHIE GOUNDEN

Appointed 22 September 2011

MR ABBEY WITBOOI
CHAIRPERSON

Appointed 24 July 2015

MS NANDIPHA DAPHNE MADIBA
DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON 

Appointed 14 November 2016

REV FRANK CHIKANE
DEPUTY CHAIRPERSON 

Appointed 22 September 2011

PROF BONGANI DOUGLAS 
BANTWINI 

Appointed 14 November 2016

ADV LENTSWE MOKGATLE

Appointed 24 July 2015
 

MR GANELANG ZETH MALELE

Appointed 14 November 2016

MS PATRICIA MALOKA 

Appointed 24 July 2015

DR KHULEKANI SITOLE

Appointed 14 November 2016 
DR MORE CHAKANE

1 April 2017 - present
(Ex Officio Member)
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
28 FEBRUARY 2020

The ARC herewith presents its report for the financial 
year ended 29 February 2020, as required by the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS AND ATTENDANCE

The ARC was established in accordance with the 
provision of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The ARC 
Charter requires that ARC comprise of a minimum of 
four members. The ARC consisted of six members, 
half of whom are Board members and the others being 
Independent members. (See Table 2 for membership 
and attendance of the ARC).

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

20/03/2019 03/07/2019 25/09/2019 12/09/2019 12/02/2020

Mr Sathie Gounden √ √ √ √ √ 

Mr Stephen Timbini √ √ √ * √

Ms Nandipha Madiba √ √ * √ √

Mr Kgabiso Manthata √ √ √ √ √

Ms Rochelle Abdul N/A N/A N/A √ √

Mr Zeth Malele N/A √ √ √ *

TABLE 2: ARC MEETINGS ATTENDED

KEY:  √ Present | * Apology noted | # Absent | √* Teleconference | N/A Not appointed at time

NON-CORE BUSINESS

Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
RESPONSIBILITY

The ARC reports that it has complied with its 
responsibilities arising from the ARC Charter. The ARC 
has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as 
its charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with 
the charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Auditors three year Annual Plan was 
approved for implementation. The work carried out 
is in accordance with the approved plan for the year. 
In line with the King IV on Corporate Governance, 
Internal Audit is expected to provide the ARC and 
Management with assurance that the internal controls 
are appropriate and effective. The company follows a 
combined assurance approach. The Internal Auditors 
issued reports for areas of work conducted and made 
recommendations to Management for correction 
and actions to be implemented. Follow-up on work 
carried out in the prior year was also conducted which 
highlighted improvements made.

EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The ARC has reviewed the internal controls environment 
for effectiveness and adequacy. There were through 
review of the work conducted by the Internal Auditors, 
progress made by Management on the prior years’ audit 
findings and the report of the External Auditors. Our 
assessment of these controls, even though progress 
is visible, is that the overall control environment still 
require improvement.

Management has committed to implementing corrective 
action to avoid recurrence of the same findings in the 
coming financial years.

GOVERNANCE OF RISK

The ARC is responsible for oversight of the risk 
management function. The ARC has reviewed the 
risk registers, tracked prior years’ audit findings 
and performed an overall assessment of the risk 
environment. The governance of risk is not at a state 
desired by the ARC. The ARC has made recommendations 
to Management on areas requiring improvements.

THE QUALITY OF MANAGEMENT AND 
QUARTERLY REPORTS

The ARC was satisfied with the content and quality of 
management and quarterly reports prepared and issued 
during the year under review. The actual costs incurred 
were also monitored against the approved budget 
throughout the year. The ARC noted the improvements 
in the quality of the reports tabled by Management 
and made recommendations towards remedying any 
shortcomings.

EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The ARC evaluated the Annual Financial Statements 
presented in this Annual Report. The Annual Financial
Statements fairly present the financial performance, 
the cash flows, financial position and the results of the 
financial operations for the year ended 29 February 
2020. The focus of the review of the Annual Financial 
Statements were as follows:

• Significant financial reporting judgments and 
estimates contained in the annual financial 
statements

• Clarity and completeness of disclosure and 
adequacy thereof

• Quality and acceptability of, and any changes in, 
accounting policies and practices

• Compliance with accounting standards and legal 
requirements

• Significant adjustments and/or unadjusted 
differences resulting from the audit

• Reflection of unusual circumstances or events 
and management’s explanation for the accounting 
treatment adopted

• Reasons for major year-on-year fluctuations
• Valuation of significant estimates
• Calculation and levels of general and specific 

provisions
• Write-offs and reversal thereof
• The basis for the going concern assumption.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT

There are no unresolved issues raised by the External 
Auditors and the ARC accepts the conclusion and audit 
opinion of the External Auditors on the Annual Financial 
Statements. The external audit function is independent 
of the entity.

The ARC has met with the External Auditors and 
acknowledges the diligence and co-operation of its 
team.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee:

MR SATHIE GOUNDEN
CHAIRPERSON OF THE AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
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BOARD PROCUREMENT 
COMMITTEE
The BPC has an oversight role over the organisation’s 
procurement processes in terms of:

• Ensuring that there is an appropriate procurement 
system that is fair, equitable, transparent, 
competitive, and cost effective

• Establishing effective, efficient and transparent 
systems of financial, risk management, and 
internal controls

• Promoting the efficient, effective and economic 
use of resources

• Conducting effective planning and implementation 
of the procurement process

• Monitoring that the bid evaluation and adjudication 
process is conducted in an effective and 
transparent way in order to approve recommended 
bids tabled to the BPC. 

The BPC consists of the following members:

• Adv Lentswe Mokgatle (Chairperson)
• Dr Vhathiswa Papa-Zamxaka
• Mr Zeth Malele

The BPC met three times during the financial year (see 
Table 3 for membership attendance).

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

13/03/2019 07/06/2019 20/09/2019

Adv Lentswe Mokgatle √ √ √

Dr Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka √* √* √*

Mr Zeth Malele √ √ √

KEY:  √ Present | * Apology noted | # Absent | √* Teleconference | N/A Not appointed at time

TABLE 3: BPC MEETINGS ATTENDED
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FINANCE, BUSINESS 
AND HUMAN 
RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE
FINCO’s function is governed by the Terms of Reference 
which effectively determine the areas of governance for 
the committee such as:

• Financial management and administration
• Human resources, industrial relations, skills 

development and training
• Policy, legal matters and compliance
• Facilities, IT governance and asset management
• Tenant management
• Marketing and communications
• Health and safety

The Finance, Business and HR Committee comprises of 
the following members:

• Ms Patricia Maloka (Chairperson)
• Prof Bongani Douglas Bantwini
• Prof Khulekani Sitole.

The committee meets monthly, save for extenuating 
circumstances when special meetings were called. The 
attendance register for the meetings held is reflected 
in Table 4.

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES    SPECIAL MEETINGS

22/02/2019 19/03/2019 18/04/2019 23/05/2019 19/09/2019 19/11/2019 03/12/2019 28/01/2020 14/02/2020

Ms Patricia Maloka (Chairperson) √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Prof Bongani Douglas Bantwini √ v √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Prof Khulekani Sitole √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

KEY:  √ Present | * Apology noted | # Absent | √* Teleconference | N/A Not appointed at time

TABLE 4: FINANCE, BUSINESS AND HUMAN RESOURCES BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDED
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Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

11/05/2019

Rev Frank Chikane (Chairperson) √

Adv Lentswe Mokgatle √

Dr Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka √

KEY:  √ Present | * Apology noted | # Absent | √* Teleconference | N/A Not appointed at time

TABLE 5: SEC MEETINGS ATTENDED

NON-CORE BUSINESS

SOCIAL AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE
The SEC was established in accordance to the  
provisions of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The 
oversight role of the SEC covers organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, and sustainable 
development. The role of the committee encompasses 
not only organisational ethics but seeks to encourage 
the creation of value in society beyond organisational 
compliance.

The SEC is composed of the following members:

• Rev Frank Chikane (Chairperson)
• Adv Lentswe Mokgatle
• Dr Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka

The SEC should meet twice a year, save for extenuating 
circumstances when special meetings should be called. 
However, the committee met once during the financial 
year. The attendance register for the meeting held is 
reflected in Table 5.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT 
MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

The members of the audit committee are all independent 
non-executive directors of the company and include:

• Mr Sathie Gounden
• Mr Stephen Tibini
• Ms Nandipha Madiba
• Ms Kagiso Manthata
• Ms Rochelle Abdul

The committee is satisfied that the members thereof 
have the required knowledge and experience as set out 
in Section 94(5) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 and 
Regulation 42 of the Companies Regulation, 2011.

MEETINGS HELD BY THE AUDIT 
COMMITTEE 

The audit committee performs the duties laid upon it by 
Section 94(7) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008 by holding 

meetings with the key role players on a regular basis 
and by the unrestricted access granted to the external 
auditor.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The committee satisfied itself through enquiry that 
the external auditor is independent as defined by the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 and as per the standards 
stipulated by the auditing profession. Requisite 
assurance was sought and provided by the Companies 
Act 71 of 2008 that internal governance processes 
within the firm support and demonstrate the claim to 
independence.

The audit committee, in consultation with executive 
management, agreed to the terms of the engagement. 
The audit fee for the external audit has been considered 
and approved taking into consideration such factors as 
the timing of the audit, the extent of the work required, 
and the scope.

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Following the review of the annual financial statements, 
the audit committee recommend board approval thereof.

ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND 
INTERNAL CONTROL 

The ARC has reviewed the internal controls environment 
for effectiveness and adequacy. This was through 
review of the work conducted by the Internal Auditors, 
progress made by Management on the prior years’ audit 
findings and the report of the External Auditors. Our 
assessment of these controls, even though progress 
is visible, is that the overall control environment still 
requires improvement. 

Management has committed to implementing corrective 
action to avoid recurrence of the same findings in the 
coming financial years. 

On behalf of the audit committee

FINANCIALS

MR SATHIE GOUNDEN
CHAIRPERSON OF THE AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE
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DIRECTORS’ 
RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND APPROVAL
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 
71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and 
are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure 
that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the company as at the end of the 
financial year and the results of its operations and 
cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards. The 
external auditor is engaged to express an independent 
opinion on the annual financial statements. 

The annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the company and place considerable 

importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the directors to meet these 
responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a 
cost effective manner. The standards include the proper 
delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures and 
adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable 
level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout 
the company and all employees are required to 
maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus 
of risk management in the company is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of 
risk across the company. While operating risk cannot be 
fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints. 

The directors are of the opinion, based on the 
information and explanations given by management, 
that the system of internal control provides reasonable 
assurance that the financial records may be relied on 
for the preparation of the annual financial statements. 
However, any system of internal financial control can 
provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance 

against material misstatement or loss. 

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow 
forecast for the year to 28 February 2021 and, in light 
of this review and the current financial position, they 
are satisfied that the company has or had access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence 
for the foreseeable future. 

The external auditor is responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the company’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the company’s external auditor and their 
report is presented on pages 56 to 57.

The annual financial statements set out on pages  
58 to 91, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board on 14 October 2020 
and were signed on their behalf by:

Building a competent society  
in the world of science  

and technology.

MR ABBEY WITBOOI
BOARD CHAIRPERSON

DR MORE CHAKANE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on 
the annual financial statements of Sci-Bono Discovery 
Centre NPC for the year ended 29 February 2020. 

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS 
AND ACTIVITIES

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently compared to the prior year. 
Full details of the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows of the company are set out in these 

annual financial statements. 

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 
PERIOD

The World Health Organisation declared a global 
health emergency in January 2020 and in March 
2020, it declared the spread of COVID-19 as a global 
pandemic. On the 15th March 2020, the South African 
Government declared a National State of Disaster, in 
terms of the Disaster Management Act (No. 57 of 2002]. 
The COVID-19 pandemic has developed rapidly in 2020, 
with a significant number of cases. Measures taken by 
various governments to contain the virus have affected 
economic activity. 

We have taken a number of measures to monitor 
and mitigate the effects of COVID-19, such as safety 
and health measures for our people (such as social 
distancing and working from home) and securing the 
resources and materials that are essential for our staff 
to continue working. 

At this stage, the impact on our business has been 
negative; resulting in a net deficit in the first quarter 
for the 2020/21 financial year of R2,2 million; however 
in quarter two grant commitments have been received 
which will ensure that we realise surpluses and we 
expect this to continue. We will continue to follow the 
various government policies and advice and, in parallel, 
we will do our utmost to continue our operations in the 
best and safest way possible without jeopardising the 
health of all people directly and/or indirectly involved in 
our operations. 

GOING CONCERN

The directors believe that the company has adequate 
financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and accordingly the annual financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that 
the company is in a sound financial position and that it 
has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its 
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not 
aware of any new material changes that may adversely 
impact the company. The directors are also not aware 
of any material non-compliance with statutory or 
regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to 
legislation which may affect the company. The directors 
have considered the consequences of COVID-19 and 
other events and conditions, and it has determined that 
they do not create a material uncertainty that casts 
significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. 

AUDITORS

RAiN Chartered Accountants Inc. continued in office as 
auditors for the company for 2020.

SECRETARY

The company secretary is Miss Mbali Mtshali.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 58 
to 91, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board on 14 October 2020, 
and were signed on its behalf by:

FINANCIALS

MR ABBEY WITBOOI
BOARD CHAIRPERSON
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INDEPENDENT 
AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the directors of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC 

OPINION 

We have audited the annual financial statements of Sci-
Bono Discovery Centre NPC set out on pages 58 to 91, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
29 February 2020, and the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity and statement of cash. flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the annual financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC as at 29 February 
2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa No.71 of 2008. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent 

of the company in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of annual financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance 
with other ethical requirements applicable to 
performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (Part A and B). We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 

OTHER INFORMATION 

The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the information 
included in the document titled “Sci-Bono Discovery 
Centre NPC annual financial statements for the year 
ended 29 February 2020”, which includes the Directors’ 
Report as required by the Companies Act of South Africa 
No.71 of 2008 and the Detailed Income Statement, 
which we obtained prior to the date of this report. The 
other information does not include the annual financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the annual financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the annual 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
DIRECTORS FOR THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the annual financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa No.71 of 2008, and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of annual financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial  tatements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
annual financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal 
control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

RAiN CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS INCORPORATED
REGISTERED AUDITORS
PER: I. E. PIERCE 
JOHANNESBURG
20 OCTOBER 2020
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Figures in Rand Note(s)  2020  2019 

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 402,306,818 409,170,807
Intangible assets 4 21,158 37,221

402,327,976 409,208,031
Current Assets
Inventories 5 10,921 30,606
Trade and other receivables 6 41,652,294 52,179,738
Investments at fair value 7 203,320,044 148,953,795
Cash and cash equivalents 8 8,732,915 21,688,133

253,716,174 222,852,272
Total Assets 656,044,150 632,060,303

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Reserves 162,743,022 165,455,406
Retained income 290,977,714 268,588,743

453,720,736 434,044,149
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income 12 186,600,392  189,763,110

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 14,118,995 6,656,577

Provisions 10 1,604,027 1,596,467
15,723,022 8,253,044

Total Liabilities 202,323,414 198,016,154
Total Equity and Liabilities 656,044,150 632,060,303

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 29 FEBRUARY 2020

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020
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Figures in Rand Note(s) 2020  2019 

Revenue 13 4,691,625 3,340,368
Cost of sales 14 (164,378) (20,969)
Gross surplus 4,527,247 3,319,399
Other operating income 15 592,320 933,697
Realisation of deferred income 3,162,718 3,162,718
Donations Income 872,357 950,554
Grants Income - Operations 21,450,000 30,924,000
Compensation from insurance claims - 16,420
Grants Income - Project Activities 225,033,433 208,357,461

Other operating gains (losses) 16 (226,396) (1,050,068)

Other operating expenses (86,463,712) (94,597,573)
Project activities expenses (160,865,406) (157,392,280)
Operating surplus/(deficit) 17 8,082,561 (5,375,672)
Investment income 18 11,595,498 12,925,063
Finance costs 19 (1,463) (24,341)
Profit before taxation 19,676,596 7,525,050
Surplus for the year 19,676,596 7,525,050

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020
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Revaluation 
reserve

Retained  
income Total equity

Figures in Rand

Balance at 01 March 2018 168,167,790 258,351,312 426,519,102
Surplus for the year - 7,525,050 7,525,050
Transfer between Reserves (2,712,384) 2,712,384 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,712,384) 10,237,434 7,525,050
Balance at 01 March 2019 165,455,406 268,588,434 434,043,840
Surplus for the year - 19,676,596 19,676,596
Transfer between Reserves (2,712,384) 2,712,384 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,712,384) 22,388,980 19,676,596
Balance at 28 February 2020 162,743,022 290,977,414 453,720,436
Note(s) 9

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020
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Figures in Rand Note(s)  2020 2019

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 21 33,279,143 (23,188,799)
Interest income 11,595,498 12,925,063
Finance costs (1,463) (24,341)
Net cash from operating activities 44,873,178 (10,288,077)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3,428,479) (3,435,023)
Sale of investments at fair value (54,366,249) 29,666,195
Net cash from investing activities (57,794,728) 26,231,172

Cash flows from financing activities

Other non-cash item (33,668) -

Total cash movement for the year (12,955,218) 15,943,095
Cash at the beginning of the year 21,688,133 5,770,630
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances - (25,592)
Total cash at end of the year 8 8,732,915 21,688,133

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020
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ACCOUNTING
POLICIES 

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sci-Bono NPC is a non-profit company incorporated and 
domiciled in South Africa.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 29 
February 2020 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on Wednesday, 14 
October 2020.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these annual financial statements are 
set out below.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in 
compliance with, IFRS and IFRIC interpretations issued 

and effective at the time of preparing these annual 
financial statements and the Companies Act 71 of 2008 
of South Africa, as amended.

The audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and the Companies Act of 2008. 
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal 
accounting policies set out below. They are presented in 
South African Rands. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty, in preparing the audited annual financial 
statements, Management is required to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in 
the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 
in the future could differ from these estimates which 
may be material to the financial statements. Significant
judgements include: 

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOANS RECEIVABLE

The company assesses its trade receivables and loans 
receivable for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in surplus or loss, the company 
makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset.

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The carrying value less impairment provision of 
trade receivables are assumed to approximate their 
fair values. The carrying value of trade creditors are 
assumed to approximate their fair values.

DEFERRED INCOME

Management applies judgement in assessing whether 
grant income cannot be matched to the related cost and 
therefore will be deferred. 

DEPRECIATION RATES AND RESIDUAL VALUES

Management applies estimation and judgement in 
determining the useful lives and residual values of 
property, plant and equipment.
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VALUATION OF EXHIBITS

Management view the exhibits as unique assets, however 
management will still apply judgement in determining 
the useful lives and fair value of the exhibitions under 
Property, Plant and Equipment.

The exhibits will be treated under the normal Property, 
Plant and Equipment accounting policy.

REVALUATION OF BUILDINGS

Land and buildings are revalued independently every 
5 years. A more frequent valuation will be obtained if 
there is evidence that indicates this is necessary. The 
buildings were revalued based on market equivalent 
values.

Revaluations are based on current market conditions.
These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset where it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the company; and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or 
construct an item of property, plant and equipment 
and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part 
of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 
the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses 
except for buildings which is carried at revalued amount 
being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses.

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity so that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 
which would be determined using fair value at the end of 
the reporting period. Any increase in an asset’s carrying 
amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised to 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
revaluation surplus in equity. The increase is recognised 
in surplus or loss to the extent that it reverses valuation 
decrease of the same asset previously recognised in 
surplus or loss.

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result 
of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or loss in the 
current period.

The decrease is recognised in other comprehensive 
income to the extent of any credit balance existing in 
the revaluation surplus in respect of that asset. The 
decrease recognised in other comprehensive income 
reduces the amount accumulated in the revaluation 
surplus in Reserves.

The revaluation surplus in reserves related to a specific 
item of property, plant and equipment is transferred 
directly to retained earnings as the asset is used. The 
amount transferred is equal to the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount 
and depreciation based on the original cost of the asset.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value. The useful lives of items 
of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as 
follows. See Table 5. 
 

FINANCIALS

ITEM DEPRECIATION METHOD AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE

Buildings Straight-line 70 Years

Appliances Straight-line 4 Years

Plant and machinery Straight-line 5 Years

Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 7 Years

Motor vehicles Straight-line 7 Years

Office equipment Straight-line 5 Years

IT equipment Straight-line 4 Years

Exhibits Straight-line 10 Years

Laboratory equipment Straight-line 4 Years

Signage Straight-line 4 Years

Telephone equipment Straight-line 7 Years

Tools Straight-line 5 Years

TABLE 5: The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment
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The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimate. 

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised 
in surplus or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and 
equipment when there is an indicator that they may 
be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher 
than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to 
bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable  
amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, 
and the carrying amount of the item, is included in 
surplus or loss when the item is derecognised. 

CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS

The company has capital work in progress that are 
disclosed as property, plant and equipment for the 
current projects. The cost of these projects will be 
capitalised to the asset. Completed projects will be 
recognised under property, plant and equipment on
completion.

Once the asset has reached the location and condition 
as intended by management, capitisation of the costs 
cease. These costs are expensed in the statement of 
surplus. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the entity; and

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of 
an internal project) is recognised as an expense when 
it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or 
from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised when:

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale;

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it; 
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits; 
• there are available technical, financial and other 

resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the asset;

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 

no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset 
is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation 
is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is 
an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all 
other intangible assets, amortisation is provided on a 
straight-line basis over their useful life.

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is 
an indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result 
the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining 
carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and items similar in substance 
are not recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the  
intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their 
residual values as follows:

ITEM  USEFUL LIFE
Software 5 Years
Website  5 Years

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments held by the company are 
classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments.

CLASSIFICATION

The company classifies financial assets and financial 
liabilities into the following categories:
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• Financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss – designated
• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were 
obtained/incurred and takes place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed 
on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as at fair 
value through surplus or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through 
surplus or loss category.

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The company classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial 
recognition as a financial asset, a financial liability or a reserves instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for Reserves 
investments for which a fair value is not determinable, which are measured at cost 
and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through surplus or loss, 
transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through surplus or loss are 
recognised in surplus or loss.

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT

Financial instruments at fair value through surplus or loss are subsequently measured 
at fair value, with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value being included in 
surplus or loss for the period.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method, less accumulated impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest method. 

DERECOGNITION

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
investments have expired or have been transferred and the company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

FAIR VALUE DETERMINATION

The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. If the market 
for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted securities), the company establishes 
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s 
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of 
market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are  
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest-rate method. 
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in 
surplus or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days 
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance 
recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest 
rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in surplus or loss within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance 
account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against operating expenses in surplus or loss.
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Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables. 

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest-rate method.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently 
recorded at fair value.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value on the weighted average cost.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale.

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of 
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred 
in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily 
interchangeable and goods or services produced and 
segregated for specific projects is assigned using 
specific identification of the individual costs.

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted 
average cost formula. The same cost formula is used 

for all inventories having a similar nature and use to the 
entity.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and 
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in 
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising 
from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised 
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. 

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

The company assesses at each end of the reporting 
period whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the company also:

• tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life or intangible assets not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its carrying 
amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment 
test is performed during the annual period and at the 
same time every period.

• tests goodwill acquired in a business combination 
for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs 
is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and 
its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in surplus or loss. Any impairment loss of 
a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may 
no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those 
assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other 
than goodwill is recognised immediately in surplus or 
loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued 
asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those 
payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, 
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, 
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and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are 
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered 
and are not discounted. 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:

• the company has a present obligation as a result of 
a past event;

• it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation;

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The amount of a provision is the present value 
of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The provision shall be initially recognised at 
the best possible estimate at the reporting date. This 
value should take into account, if material, the time 
value of money. When the provision has a reimbursive 

condition from a third party, the reimbursement asset 
is to be recognised separately on when it is virtually 
certain payment will be received.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that: 

• the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them; and

• the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the related costs 
that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to assets, including non-
monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the 
statement of financial position by setting up the grant as 
deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at 
the carrying amount of the asset.

Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the 
surplus or loss (separately).

REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable and represents the 
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in 
the normal course of business, net of trade discounts 
and volume rebates, and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or loss, using the 
effective interest-rate method.

Gate entrance fee is recognised when the amount is 
received.

Donations are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow into the company 
and revenue can be reliably measured. 

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset 
until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. 
The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 
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is determined as follows: 

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically 
borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset less any temporary investment of those 
borrowings;

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically 
borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying 
asset less any temporary investment of those 
borrowings.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred; and
• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset 

for its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in 
which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the 
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for 
its intended use or sale are complete.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred. 

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN 
CURRENCIES 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction. 

At the end of the reporting period:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated 
using the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction; and

• non-monetary items that are measured at fair 
value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was 
determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
rates different from those at which they were translated 

on initial recognition during the period or in previous 
annual financial statements are recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise.

DEFERRED INCOME

Government grants shall be recognised in surplus or 
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which 
the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for 
which the grants are intended to compensate.

Grants related to income are presented as part of 
surplus or loss, either separately or under a general 
heading such as ‘Other income’; alternatively, they are 
deducted in reporting the related expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

2. NEW STANDARDS AND    
    INTERPRETATIONS

UNCERTAINTY OVER INCOME TAX 
TREATMENTS

The interpretation clarifies how to apply the recognition 
and measurement requirements in IAS 12 when there 
is uncertainty over income tax treatments. Specifically, 
if it is probable that the tax authorities will accept the 
uncertain tax treatment, then all tax related items are 
measured according to the planned tax treatment. If it 
is not probable that the tax authorities will accept the 
uncertain tax treatment, then the tax related items are 
measured on the basis of probabilities to reflect the 
uncertainty.

Changes in facts and circumstances are required 
to be treated as changes in estimates and applied 
prospectively.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

The company expects to adopt the interpretation for the 
first time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

The impact of the interpretation is not material.

IFRS 16 LEASES

IFRS 16 Leases is a new standard which replaces IAS 
17 Leases, and introduces a single lessee accounting 
model. The main changes arising from the issue of IFRS 
16 which are likely to impact the company are as follows:

COMPANY AS LESSEE

• Lessees are required to recognise a right-of-use 
asset and a lease liability for all leases, except short 
term leases or leases where the underlying asset 
has a low value, which are expensed on a straight 
line or other systematic basis.

• The cost of the right-of-use asset includes, where 
appropriate, the initial amount of the lease liability; 
lease payments made prior to commencement of 
the lease less incentives received; initial direct costs 
of the lessee; and an estimate for any provision for 
dismantling, restoration and removal related to the 
underlying asset.

• The lease liability takes into consideration, where 
appropriate, fixed and variable lease payments; 
residual value guarantees to be made by the lessee; 
exercise price of purchase options; and payments of 
penalties for terminating the lease.

• The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured 
on the cost model at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment and adjusted for any 
re-measurement of the lease liability. However, 
right-of-use assets are measured at fair value when 
they meet the definition of investment property and 
all other investment property is accounted for on 
the fair value model. If a right-of-use asset relates 
to a class of property, plant and equipment which is 
measured on the revaluation model, then that right-
of-use asset may be measured on the revaluation 
model.

• The lease liability is subsequently increased by 
interest, reduced by lease payments and re-
measured for reassessments or modifications.

• Re-measurements of lease liabilities are affected 
against right-of-use assets, unless the assets 
have been reduced to nil, in which case further 
adjustments are recognised in profit or loss.

• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised payments at a revised rate when there 
is a change in the lease term or a change in the 
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying 
asset.

• The lease liability is re-measured by discounting 
revised lease payments at the original discount rate 
when there is a change in the amounts expected to 
be paid in a residual value guarantee or when there 
is a change in future payments because of a change 
in index or rate used to determine those payments.

• Certain lease modifications are accounted for 
as separate leases. When lease modifications 
which decrease the scope of the lease are not 
required to be accounted for as separate leases, 
then the lessee re-measures the lease liability by 
decreasing the carrying amount of the right of lease 
asset to reflect the full or partial termination of the 
lease. Any gain or loss relating to the full or partial 
termination of the lease is recognised in profit or 
loss. For all other lease modifications which are not 
required to be accounted for as separate leases, the 
lessee re-measures the lease liability by making a 
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.

• Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities should 
be presented separately from other assets and 
liabilities. If not, then the line item in which they 
are included must be disclosed. This does not 
apply to right-of-use assets meeting the definition 
of investment property which must be presented 
within investment property. IFRS 16 contains 
different disclosure requirements compared to IAS 
17 leases.

COMPANY AS LESSOR

• Accounting for leases by lessors remains similar to 
the provisions of IAS 17 in that leases are classified 
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as either finance leases or operating leases. Lease 
classification is reassessed only if there has been a 
modification.

• A modification is required to be accounted for as 
a separate lease if it both increases the scope of 
the lease by adding the right to use one or more 
underlying assets; and the increase in consideration 
is commensurate to the stand alone price of the 
increase in scope.

• If a finance lease is modified, and the modification 
would not qualify as a separate lease, but the 
lease would have been an operating lease if the 
modification was in effect from inception, then the 
modification is accounted for as a separate lease. 
In addition, the carrying amount of the underlying 
asset shall be measured as the net investment in 
the lease immediately before the effective date 
of the modification. IFRS 9 is applied to all other 
modifications not required to be treated as a 
separate lease.

• Modifications to operating leases are required to 
be accounted for as new leases from the effective 
date of the modification. Changes have also been 
made to the disclosure requirements of leases in 
the lessor’s financial statements.

SALE AND LEASEBACK TRANSACTIONS

• In the event of a sale and leaseback transaction, 
the requirements of IFRS 15 are applied to consider 
whether a

• performance obligation is satisfied to determine 
whether the transfer of the asset is accounted for 
as the sale of an asset.

• If the transfer meets the requirements to be 
recognised as a sale, the seller-lessee must 
measure the new right-of use asset at the 
proportion of the previous carrying amount of the 

asset that relates to the right-of-use retained. The 
buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase by applying 
applicable standards and for the lease by applying 
IFRS 16

• If the fair value of consideration for the sale is 
not equal to the fair value of the asset, then IFRS 
16 requires adjustments to be made to the sale 
proceeds. When the transfer of the asset is not a 
sale, then the seller-lessee continues to recognise 
the transferred asset and recognises a financial 
liability equal to the transfer proceeds. The buyer-
lessor recognises a financial asset equal to the 
transfer proceeds.

• The effective date of the standard is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2019.

• The company has adopted the standard for the first 
time in the 2020 annual financial statements.

• The impact of the standard is not material.

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETA-
TIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The company has chosen not to early adopt the 
following standards and interpretations, which have 
been published and are mandatory for the company’s 
accounting periods beginning on or after 01 March 2020 
or later periods:

IFRS 17 INSURANCE CONTRACTS

The IFRS establishes the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance 
contracts issued.

The effective date of the standard is for years beginning 
on or after 01 January 2021.

The company expects to adopt the standard for the first 
time in the 2022 annual financial statements.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material 
impact on the company’s annual financial statements.
The interpretation applies to circumstances when 
an entity has either paid or received an amount of 
consideration in advance and in a foreign currency, 
resulting in a non-monetary asset or liability being 
recognised. The specific issue addressed by the
interpretation is how to determine the date of the 
transaction for the purposes of determining the 
exchange rate to use on the initial recognition of the 
related asset, expense or income when the non-
monetary asset or liability is derecognised. The 
interpretation specifies that the date of the transaction, 
for purposes of determining the exchange rate to apply, 
is the date on which the entity initially recognises the 
non-monetary asset or liability.

The effective date of the interpretation is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2018.

The company expects to adopt the interpretation for the 
first time in the 2019 annual financial statements.

The amendment provides clarification and further 
guidance regarding certain issues in IFRS 15. 
These items include guidance in assessing whether 
promises to transfer goods or services are separately 
identifiable; guidance regarding agent versus principal 
considerations; and guidance regarding licenses and 
royalties.

The effective date of the amendment is for years 
beginning on or after 01 January 2018. The company 
expects to adopt the amendment for the first time in the 
2019 annual financial statements.
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3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Buildings 443,054,600 (51,428,636) 391,625,964 442,612,119 (45,746,166) 396,865,953
Furniture and fixtures 4,299,514 (2,871,106) 1,428,408 3,494,763 (2,256,140) 1,238,623
Motor vehicles 1,907,470 (1,212,059) 695,411 1,907,470 (1,051,891) 855,579
Office equipment 3,757,778 (2,997,120) 760,658 3,656,383 (2,472,537) 1,183,846
IT equipment 12,323,359 (8,657,471) 3,665,888 12,472,785 (7,448,494) 5,024,291
Computer software 537,607 (91,235) 446,372 101,033 (55,928) 45,105
Leasehold improvements 15,162,721 (12,205,173) 2,957,548 15,093,326 (11,673,448) 3,419,878
Laboratory equipment 1,141,766 (949,766) 192,000 1,130,630 (842,662) 287,968
Signage 234,709 (175,518) 59,191 221,919 (124,847) 97,072
Telephone equipment 101,054 (92,767) 8,287 102,252 (89,254) 12,998
Tools 153,582 (136,731) 16,851 151,273 (135,173) 16,100
Capital - Work in progress 450,240 - 450,240 123,394 - 123,394
Total 483,124,400 (80,817,582) 402,306,818 481,067,347 (71,896,540) 409,170,807
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2020

Figures in Rand 2020

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Other changes,

movements Depreciation Total

Buildings 396,865,953 442,482 - - (5,682,471) 391,625,964
Furniture and fixtures 1,238,623 797,867 (269) (1) (607,812) 1,428,408
Motor vehicles 855,579 - - (1) (160,167) 695,411
Office equipment 1,183,846 137,087 (3,246) - (557,029) 760,658
IT equipment 5,024,291 1,051,786 (222,636) - (2,187,553) 3,665,888
Appliances 45,105 438,116 - - (36,849) 446,372
Exhibits 3,419,878 217,963 - 23,112 (703,405) 2,957,548
Laboratory equipment 287,968 11,135 - - (107,103) 192,000
Signage 97,072 899 - 11,891 (50,671) 59,191
Telephone equipment 12,998 - (245) - (4,466) 8,287
Tools 16,100 4,298 - - (3,547) 16,851
Capital - Work in progress 123,394 326,846 - - - 450,240

409,170,807 3,428,479 (226,396) 35,001 (10,101,073) 402,306,818
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019

Figures in Rand 2019

Opening
balance Additions Disposals Other changes,

movements Depreciation Total

Buildings 402,020,231 518,706 - - (5,672,984) 396,865,953
Furniture and fixtures 1,630,343 97,283 (220,734) - (268,269) 1,238,623
Motor vehicles 1,007,170 25,400 - - (176,991) 855,579
Office equipment 1,423,459 183,388 (25,970) - (397,031) 1,183,846
IT equipment 6,189,067 1,657,545 (802,429) - (2,019,892) 5,024,291
Appliances 13,809 43,404 (1,768) - (10,340) 45,105
Exhibits 3,239,881 904,188 - - (724,191) 3,419,878
Laboratory equipment 404,663 1 - - (116,696) 287,968
Signage 105,951 - (326) - (8,553) 97,072
Telephone equipment 47,187 - (24,435) - (9,754) 12,998
Tools 15,376 5,108 - - (4,384) 16,100
Capital - Work in progress 719,014 - - (595,620) - 123,394

416,816,151 3,435,023 (1,075,662) (595,620) (9,409,085) 409,170,807
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Revaluations

Land and buildings are revalued independently every 5 years. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially 
from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit and loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the 
revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties’ revaluation reserve relating to a 
previous revaluation of that asset. The buildings were not revalued during the year. The last revaluation was conducted on the 1 August 2016, by an independent valuation 
brokering company, Mirfin Contrywide Property Valuations, and Mr Gavin Jacobs with valuer registration number 3368/2 was seconded to conduct the valuation, based on 
market equivalent values in the area.

These assumptions were based on current market conditions in 2016.

                  

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

 Buildings 285,483,763 285,232,166
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated
Amortisation Carrying value Cost/ 

Valuation
Accumulated
Amortisation Carrying value

Computer software 329,994 (308,836) 21,158 329,994 (292,770) 37,224
Website development costs 49,840 (49,840) - 49,840 (49,840) -
Total 379,834 (358,676) 21,158 379,834 (342,610) 37,224

A souvenir shop was opened in July 2018 to service the customers with educational consumables (especially related to the science shows offered at the centre). Inventories are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to be
incurred in marketing and selling.
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Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2020

Opening 
balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 37,221 (16,066) 21,158

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019

Opening 
balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 53,794 (16,570) 37,224

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories (Science Shop) 10,921 30,606
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 12,814,176 12,801,556
Deposits 324,150 293,097
Payments in advance 540,073 540,073

Non-financial instruments:

VAT 27,646,759 37,501,264

Employee costs in advance 327,136 1,043,748
Total trade and other receivables 41,652,294 52,179,738

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 41,652,294 52,179,738

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments:

At amortised cost 13,678,399 13,634,726
Non-financial instruments 27,973,895 38,545,012

41,652,294 52,179,738

As of 29 February 2020, trade and other receivables of R1,184,575 (2019: R745,445) were impaired and provided for. The ageing of these receivables is over 180 days.
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Gross receivables can be analysed as follows: 

2019
Advances Current not yet 

past due
Past due but not 

impaired
Impaired  

amount
Total gross

amount 

Advances 540,073 - - - 540,073
Trade receivables - 5,139,200 8,407,801 (745,445) 12,801,556
Sundry receivables - 1,019,155 24,593 - 1,043,748
VAT  - - 37,501,264 - 37,501,264
Deposits - - 293,097 - 293,097

540,073 6,158,355 46,226,755 (745,445) 52,179,738

Gross receivables can be analysed as follows: 

2020 Advances Current not yet 
past due

Past due but not 
impaired

Impaired  
amount

Total gross
amount 

Advances 540,073 - - - 540,073
Trade receivables - 8,052,136 6,498,992 (1,184,575) 13,366,553
Sundry receivables - 71,300 224,357 - 295,657
VAT  - - 27,125,861 - 27,125,861
Deposits - - 324,150 - 324,150

540,073 8,123,436 34,173,360 (1,184,575) 41,652,294

Figures in Rand
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Fair value information

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts

The following classes of financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss are measured to fair value using quoted market price.

The listed units as at 29 February 2020 are as follows:
Nedbank Group Investment Core Income Fund C2    202,995,251.93 units at 1.0023 cents / units
Nedbank Core Income ABIL Retention Fund A 	 	 nil units

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss
For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements.
Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets.

Level 2 applies inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.

Initial adoption of IFRS 9
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was adopted in the current year and replaces IAS 39. This note reflects the application of IFRS 9 to the specified instruments. Prior year figures have not been 
restated. Refer to the “other financial assets” note for disclosure of the comparative figures in accordance with IAS 39.

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

7. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

Investments held by the company which are measured at fair value, are as follows:

Nedgroup Investments Core Income Fund C2 203,320,044 147,722,239
Nedgroup Investments Core Income ABIL Retention Fund A - 1,231,556

203,320,044 148,953,795
Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
Investments at fair value 203,320,044 148,953,795

203,320,044 148,953,795
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Figures in Rand 2020 2019

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 579 8,677
Bank balances 1,671,641 21,565,458
Short-term deposits 7,060,695 113,998

8,732,915 21,688,133

9. REVALUATION RESERVE

The revaluation reserve relates to the take-on assets from Jet Education Services on inception of Sci-Bono NPC for no consideration in the period ended 28 February 2005. The asset 
taken over, where accounted for at the fair value at the date of transfer. 

165,455,406 168,167,789
(2,712,384) (2,712,383)

162,743,022 165,455,406
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10. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2020

Opening 
balance Additions Utilised during 

the year TotalFigures in Rand

Provision for leave pay 1,596,467 174,756 (167,196) 1,604,027

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019

Opening 
balance Additions Total

Provision for leave pay 1,443,546 152,921 1,596,467

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Figures in Rand 2020 2019

Financial instruments:
Trade payables  8,401,540 2,063,056
Accrued expenses 2,454,170 873,222
Payroll accruals 3,151,913 3,608,927
Deposits received 111,372 111,372

14,118,995 6,656,577

The average credit period for certain goods is five months. Interest is not charged on these amounts as they are within the credit limits granted by the suppliers. Interest is charged at an 
average rate of 4.5% on overdue outstanding balances. The amount of interest paid on overdue amounts is R1,463 (2019: R24,341).
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Non-current liabilities 
The deferred income relates to government grant received for the construction of phase I and II, which was completed in the financial year ended 28 February 2011. The deferred income 
would be amortised and realised as income over the useful lives of the building. The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the audited annual financial statements and an
indication of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefited.

Current liabilites
The deferred income recognised was relating to unfulfilled conditions attached to the grant assistance received in the 2017/18 financial year. The unfulfilled grant conditions were 
completed in the 2018/19  financial year, the income was recognised in the Statement of Comprehesive Income.

Deferred income reconciliation 

2020 Opening  
balance

Deferred income 
recognised during 

the year

Grant income 
received

Grant income  
utilised Total 

Non-current liabilities 189,763,111 (3,162,718) - - 186,600,393
Current liabilities - - 247,355,790 (247,355,790) -

189,763,111 (3,162,718) 247,355,790 (247,355,790) 186,600,393

Deferred income reconciliation 

2019 Opening  
balance

Deferred income 
recognised during 

the year

Grant income 
received

Grant income  
utilised Total 

Non-current liabilities 192,925,829 (3,162,718) - - 189,763,111
Current liabilities 4,500,000 (4,500,000) 234,781,461 (234,781,461) -

197,425,829 (7,662,718) 234,781,461 (234,781,461) 189,763,111

Figures in Rand

12. DEFERRED INCOME
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13. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers

Souvenir Shop sales 93,598 47,558

Gate takings, venue hire, and training income 4,079,645 2,743,568
Climbing wall income 126,960 -

4,300,203 2,791,126

Revenue other than from contracts with customers
Rental income 391,422 549,242

4,691,625 3,340,368

14. COST OF SALES

Sale of goods 164,378 20,969

A souvenir shop was opened in July 2018 to service the customers with educational consumables (especially related to the science shows offered at the centre).

15. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Birthday Bookings 419,119 289,335
Parking fees 124,875 76,750
Access card issue fee 400 700
Team building income - 73,375
Other income 47,926 493,537

592,320 933,697
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16. OTHER OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 

Gains (losses) on disposals, scrappings and settlements
Property, plant and equipment 3 (226,396) (1,075,660)

Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Net foreign exchange gains - 25,592

17. OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT)  

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

Auditor’s remuneration - external
Audit fees 1,438,386 504,039

18. INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest income 
Investments in financial assets:
Bank and other cash 11,595,498 12,925,063

The investment income is generated from two sources, Nedbank Investment Fund and Standard bank Call Account. The Nedbank Investment Fund generated interest at annualized total 
rate of 7.64% and the rate generated by the Standard Bank Call Account is 6.15%.

The average credit period for certain goods is five months. Interest is not charged on these amounts as they are within the credit limits granted by the suppliers. Interest is charged at an 
average rate of 4.5% on overdue outstanding balances. The amount of interest paid on overdue amounts is R1,463 (2019: R24,341).

19. FINANCE COSTS

Interest paid 1,463 24,341

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020
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20. TAXATION

Major components of the tax expense 

The company has been approved as a Public Benefit Organisation (PBO) in terms of section 30 of the Income Tax Act, (the Act) and the receipts and accruals are exempt from income tax 
in terms of section 10(1)(cN) of the Act.

21. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS

(Loss) profit before taxation 19,676,596 7,525,050
Adjustments for: 10,115,797 9,425,657
Depreciation and amortisation 226,396 1,075,660
Losses on disposals, scrappings and settlements of assets and liabilities - (25,592)
Gains on foreign exchange (11,595,498) (12,925,063)
Interest income 1,463 24,341
Finance costs 7,560 152,921
Movements in provisions - 646,805
Other non-cash items 1 19,685 (30,606)
Changes in working capital: 10,527,444 (17,383,160)

Inventories 7,462,418 (4,012,094)
Trade and other receivables (3,162,718) (7,662,718)
Trade and other payables 33,279,143 (23,188,799)
Deferred income (3,162,718) (7,662,718)

33,553,401 (23,188,799)
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22. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Gauteng Department of Education

Related party balances
Gauteng Department of Education 220,245,500 209,153,365

Compensation to directors and other key management
Remuneration to directors and other key management 8,609,209 8,148,053
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23. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive - 2020 Emoluments Other Benefits* Company Contributions** Total

Dr. Chakane, Moretsele Morrison 1,795,980 69,058 179,086 2,044,124
Mr. Davids, Anele Jeremiah Stephen 1,163,864 63,470 114,499 1,341,833

Ms. Gule, Tebogo 520,936 43,138 52,185 616,259
Ms. Mapela, Fikile 1,152,953 107,698 114,499 1,375,150
Ms. Mtshali, Mbali 798,536 36,790 74,316 909,642
Mr. Maluleke, Nkateko Raymond 892,090 51,413 76,060 1,019,563

6,324,359 371,567 610,645 7,306,571

 

Executive - 2019 Emoluments Other Benefits* Company Contributions** Total

Dr Chakane, Moretsele Morrison 1,441,413 102,489 187,605 1,731,507 
Mr Davids, Anele Jeremiah Stephen 920,475 68,376 121,042 1,109,893
Ms Gule, Tebogo 1,016,801 74,791 122,443 1,214,035
Ms Mapela, Fikile 920,867 68,376 120,650 1,109,893 
Ms Mtshali, Mbali 597,374 40,681 78,626 716,681
Mr Tsotetsi, Phehello Raymond 1,146,448 68,062 163,110 1,377,620

6,043,378 422,775 793,476 7,259,629

* Other benefits comprise performance and discretionary bonuses, reimbursive travelling costs and subsistence.

** Company contributions comprise both medical aid and provident funds.
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Non-executive - 2020 Directors’ fees Committees fees Total

Mr. Witbooi, Abbey (Chairperson) 212,500 9,475 221,975
Ms. Madiba, Nandipha Daphne (Deputy Chairperson) 91,500 2,582 94,082
Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas 148,500 8,045 156,545
Rev. Chikane, Frank 36,000 2,079 38,079

Mr. Gounden, Sathiaseelan 105,000 2,183 107,183

Mr. Malele, Ganelang Zeth 101,500 2,826 104,326
Adv. Mokgatle, Lentswe Gabriel 74,500 7,454 81,954
Ms. Moloka, Patricia Ntepane 159,500 6,685 166,185
Dr. Papu-Zamxaka, Vhathiswa Belinda 91,500 6,692 98,192
Prof. Sitole, Khulekani 123,500 2,099 125,599
Ms. Abdul, Rochelle (*) 46,000 1,240 47,240
Ms. Manthata, Kgabiso (*) 34,000 1,278 35,278
Mr. Tibini, Stephen (*) 25,000 1,000 26,000

1,249,000 53,638 1,302,638

Non-executive - 2019 Directors’ fees Committees fees Total

Mr. Witbooi, Abbey (Chairperson) 133,286 7,622 140,908
Ms. Madiba, Nandipha Daphne (Deputy Chairperson) 81,500 2,053 83,553
Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas 99,500 6,228 105,728
Rev. Chikane, Frank 20,000 1,272 21,272

Mr. Gounden, Sathiaseelan 98,000 3,242 101,242

Mr. Malele, Ganelang Zeth 52,000 1,404 53,404
Adv. Mokgatle, Lentswe Gabriel 44,000 6,051 50,051
Ms. Moloka, Patricia Ntepane 129,000 5,945 134,945
Dr. Papu-Zamxaka, Vhathiswa Belinda 41,500 3,926 45,426
Prof. Sitole, Khulekani 90,100 2,189 92,289
Ms. Manthata, Kgabiso (*) 37,000 1,100 38,100
Mr. Tibini, Stephen (*) 20,500 1,006 21,506

846,386 42,038 888,424

* Independent Audit & Risk Committee (ARC) members      
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24. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

2020

Note(s) Fair Value Through Profit 
Or Loss - Designated Amortised Cost Total Fair Value

Investments at fair value 7 203,320,044 - 203,320,044 203,320,044
Trade and other receivables 6 - 13,678,399 13,678,399 13,678,399
Cash and cash equivalents 8 - 8,732,915 8,732,915 8,732,915

203,320,044 22,411,314 225,731,358 225,731,358

2019

Note(s) Fair Value Through Profit 
Or Loss - Designated Amortised Cost Non Financial Assets Fair Value

Investments at fair value 7 148,953,795 - 148,953,795 148,953,795
Trade and other receivables 6 - 13,634,726 13,634,726 13,634,726
Cash and cash equivalents 8 - 21,688,133 21,688,133 21,688,133

148,953,795 35,322,859 184,276,654 184,276,654
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Categories of financial liabilities

2020

Note(s) Amortised Cost Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 11  14,118,995  14,118,995 -

2019

Note(s) Amortised Cost Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 11  6,656,577  6,656,577 -

Capital risk management
The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns and benefits for stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 7, and reserves as disclosed 
in the statement of financial position.

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Trade and other payables 11 14,118,995 6,656,577

Cash and cash equivalents 8 (8,732,915) (21,688,133)
Net borrowings 5,386,080 (15,031,556)

Equity 448,295,976 434,044,149

Gearing ratio 1 % (3) %
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Financial risk management

Overview
The company is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk;
• Liquidity risk; 
• Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The company only deposits cash with major banks with high-quality credit standing and limits exposure 
to any one counter-party.

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses from non performance by these counter-parties.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

2020 2019

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Credit Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost / Fair Value

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Credit Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost / Fair Value

Investments at fair value through profit or loss 7 203,320,044 - 203,320,044 148,953,795 - 148,953,795
Trade and other receivables 6 13,678,399 - 13,678,399 13,634,726 - 13,634,726
Cash and cash equivalents 8 8,732,915 - 8,732,915 21,688,133 - 21,688,133

225,731,358 - 225,731,358 184,276,654 - 184,276,654

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

SCI-BONO DISCOVERY CENTRE ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2090



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020 NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2020

FINANCIALS

Foreign currency risk
The company does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations.

Interest rate risk
As the company has no significant interest-bearing assets, the company’s income 
and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest 
rates.

25. GOING CONCERN

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to 
finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, 
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 
Management has considered the consequences of COVID-19 and other events and 
conditions, and it has determined that they do not create a material uncertainty that 
casts significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.

26. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The World Health Organisation declared a global health emergency in January 
2020 and in March 2020, it declared the spread of COVID-19 as a global pandemic. 
On the 15th March 2020, the South African Government declared a National State of  

Disaster, in terms of the Disaster Management Act [No. 57 of 2002]. The COVID-19 
pandemic has developed rapidly in 2020, with a significant number of cases. Measures 
taken by various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity.

We have taken a number of measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of COVID-19, 
such as safety and health measures for our people (such as social distancing and 
working from home) and securing the resources and materials that are essential for 
our staff to continue working.

At this stage, the impact on our business has been negative; resulting in a net deficit in 
the first quarter for the 2020/21 financial year of R2,2 million; however in quarter two 
grant commitments have been received which will ensure that we realise surpluses 
and we expect this to continue. We will continue to follow the various government 
policies and advice and, in parallel, we will do our utmost to continue our operations in 
the best and safest way possible without jeopardising the health of all people directly
and/or indirectly involved in our operations.
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FUNDRAISING 
We take this opportunity to acknowledge the generous 
consideration and invaluable support of all our donors, 
funders, sponsors and partners. We are hopeful that 
the growth and developments achieved in 2019 will take 
us into an era where new donors, funders, sponsors 
and partners will recognise the increased value of 
partnering with Sci-Bono . We are also confident that  
the excellent relationships that we enjoy with our  
current stakeholders – namely government, corporates, 
trusts, foundations and individuals, will grow even 
stronger. Your funding has supported both our core 
and non-core business. As we embark on a new and 
exciting new phase, your support is more fundamentally 
essential to our success. 

Once again, we would like to take this opportunity to 
thank you for your continuous support. You have made 
what seemed unfeasible, achievable. The donors listed 
here include all those who have directly contributed to 
the improvement and sustainability of Sci-Bono. The list 
includes all donations received, and every attempt has 
been made to respect anonymity where requested. This 
list only includes donors from March 2019 to February 
2020. 

While we at Sci-Bono have made every effort to verify 
the accuracy of the lists.

Sci-Bono is compliant with legislation in terms of the 
provisions of Section 21. 

Tax Benefits
All donations to Sci-Bono are tax deductible in 
accordance with Act 58 of 1962, as amended. Sci-Bono 
has obtained its tax-exempt status under Section 10 (1) 
(cN) of the Income Tax Act; in accordance with Section 
18A, which provides for deductions from taxable income. 
Sci-Bono as a Public Benefit Organisation is entitled 
to provide tax exemption benefits. Tax certificates 
are issued in accordance with the legislation for all 
donations received.

Our auditors, RAiN, provides audit services to Sci-Bono.
According to our past auditor’s reports, which include 
the year ending February 2020, the organisation has 
met the requirements of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards and Companies Act of South Africa.

A list of donors, funders, sponsors and partners for this 
period:

Afrox

Andrew Pratley of Pratley’s South Africa

Anglo Gold

Aveng

BASF Holdings

Cape Town Science Centre

Cisco Network Academy

Clubhouse Network

CompTIA

Dell Development Fund

Department of E-Government

Department of Social Development

Dow South Africa

Exxaro

Gauteng Department of Education

INLEA Holdings

Lesotho Highlands Water Research Commission

Matthew Goniwe School of Leadership & Governance

SAASTA

SAP

South African Radio Astronomy Observatory

Sasol

Smithsonian Institution Traveling Exhibition Service

South32

Ticket To The Moon Management
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Sci-Bono Discovery Centre

C/o Miriam Makeba & Helen Joseph Streets
Newtown | Johannesburg
PO Box 61882 | Marshalltown | 2107

Tel: +27 (0)11 639 8400
Fax: +27 (0)11 832 3360 
Web: www.sci-bono.co.za

 @scibono @SciBono @SciBono01 
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